FROM THE CURRENT LITERATURE

PACS numbers: 11.30.-j, 11.30.Er, 14.60.Pq, 14.60.St

Neutrino oscillations and the CPT

I S Tsukerman

Contents

DOI: 10.1070/PU2005v048n08ABEH001693

1. Introduction	825
2. The CPT theorem (quotations)	826
3. The theoretical and experimental status of CPT	827
4. General consequences of hypothetical CPT violation in neutrino physics	828
4.1 Extension of the Standard Model: spontaneous Lorentz invariance and CPT violation; 4.2 Additional perturbation-	
theory terms with violation of Lorentz invariance, CPT, and the equivalence principle; 4.3 A remark on the type of	
neutrino mass and the lepton number conservation; 4.4 'Nonstandard' mechanisms of violating Lorentz invariance,	
CPT, and the equivalence principle (decoherence, modification of dispersion relations)	
5. Experimental and observational consequences of a hypothetical CPT violation in neutrino physics	831
5.1 Evaluations of parameters of LI and CPT violation (not violating the equivalence principle); 5.2 Violation of the	
equivalence principle in neutrino oscillations and in neutrino astrophysics; 5.3 Manifestations of decoherence and	
modification of dispersion relations	
6. Interpretations of neutrino oscillations based on CPT violation	835
6.1 False CPT-odd effects in medium; 6.2 Violation of Lorentz invariance and the equivalence principle; 6.3 CPT-	
noninvariant 'ether', decoherence, and the LSND anomaly; 6.4 Constraints on the values of $m_{\bar{v}} \neq m_v$ derived from NO	
data	
7. Attempts to interpret oscillation data for $m_{\bar{y}} \neq m_{y}$	836
8. Conclusion	837
References	838

<u>Abstract.</u> The experimental discovery of neutrino mixing is now a well-established fact. Its phenomenological interpretation in the theory of neutrino oscillations gives convincing evidence for a nonzero neutrino mass. Precise measurements of the differences of the neutrino mass squared and mixing angles are in progress. Dedicated experiments to search for CP- and T-odd effects will start soon. At the same time, the consequences of hypothetical CPT violation in the leptonic sector of the Standard Model, in neutrino physics in particular, are being widely discussed. This paper represents a brief review of published articles on the manifestations of CPT violation in the processes of neutrino oscillations and resonant changes of their flavor.

1. Introduction

Recent reviews by Bilenky [1] and Akhmedov [2] in *Physics Uspekhi*, review talks at the conferences 'Neutrino-2002' [3] and 'ICHEP-2002' [4] convened in Munich and Amsterdam in 2002, as well as a number of reviews that appeared later,

I S Tsukerman Russian Federation State Scientific Center 'Institute for Theoretical and Experimental Physics', ul. B. Cheremushkinskaya 25, 117218 Moscow, Russian Federation Tel. (7-095) 129 96 18. Fax (7-095) 127 08 33 E-mail: zuckerma@heron.itep.ru

Received 23 August 2004, revised 22 December 2004 Uspekhi Fizicheskikh Nauk **175** (8) 863–879 (2005) Translated by V I Kisin; edited by A M Semikhatov e.g., prior to the 'Neutrino-2004' conference, focused on the pressing problems of neutrino oscillations; these problems have been a subject of discussion in the literature in the last three or four years. However, there has been insufficient emphasis on the problem of possible CPT violation in neutrino physics; this problem has attracted attention recently, also in connection with the idea of the hypothetical mass difference between the neutrino and the antineutrino $(m_{\bar{\nu}} \neq m_{\nu})$. The Munich talks by Akhmedov [5] and Kayser [6] and the plenary talk by Gonzalez-Garcia [7] in Amsterdam contained brief remarks on $m_{\bar{\nu}} \neq m_{\nu}$. Papers by Kostelecky and Mewes [8] specially considered the problem of the CPT symmetry in neutrino physics. A talk by Kostelecky [9] and two review papers by Mavromatos (talk [10] and lectures [11]) were published in 2004; a relevant section is also included in the analytical review by Bahcall, Gonzalez-Garcia, and Peña-Garay [12]. The bibliography of publications on this topic covers much more than a hundred papers that study the general consequences of CPT violation in neutrino-involving processes and analyze experimental data on the oscillations of solar and atmospheric neutrinos and antineutrinos, as well as the well-known LSND anomaly [13].¹

This review was written in order to briefly outline the available information on CPT violation in neutrino oscillations and on the process of resonance change of neutrino

¹ See the discussion of this anomaly in Sections 6.1 and 9 of review [1], in Section 7 of review [2], and in the present review (in the middle of Section 5.1 and in 6.3 and 7).

flavors.² Following the presentation style of the summarizing papers listed above, we here reproduce only the concluding statements of papers chosen for discussion, without going into the details of the relevant experiments; these can be found in the original publications cited in review papers that have appeared in the last two years [22-33].

Several remarks are due on the structure of the paper and the notation used. Publications devoted to general theoretical and phenomenological approaches to the main topic are given in Sections 2-4. We need to note here that while the approaches presented in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 are a natural generalization of the Standard-Model formalism, the 'unconventional' ones discussed in Section 4.4 are typically hypothetical.

Those publications that mainly focused on comparing experimental and observational data with phenomenological expectations in the framework of the relevant theoretical approaches are discussed in Sections 5.1-5.3, 6.1-6.4, and 7; we followed the principle of maximum correspondence of the contents to the section title. Because this arrangement of the material cannot be fully unambiguous, sections containing additional information are cited where necessary.

We use the following main acronyms: CPT, NO, MSW, LI, EP, and DR; these stand for the CPT symmetry, neutrino oscillations, the Mikheyev–Smirnov–Wolfenstein resonance solution in medium, the Lorentz invariance, the equivalence principle, and the dispersion relations (interpreted as relations between the energy, 3-momentum, and mass of a particle). The abbreviated names of experiments are those used throughout the literature; brief descriptions are provided where necessary.

Numerous remarks and references to publications added to the main body of the review are given as footnotes.

2. The CPT theorem (quotations)

Even though the Pauli–Lüders–Schwinger CPT theorem is directly related to developments in theories of the weak interaction and in neutrino physics, these general aspects are not covered in this review. Consequently, the fundamental conclusions of the theory concerning the CPT problem is only represented by quotations from familiar monographs and collected volumes (see also Section 3).

• ...Unter sehr allgemeinen und wohlbergündeten Voraussetzungen, zu denen die für die spezielle Relativitätstheorie characteristische Lorentz-Invarianz gehört, gilt nämlich das sogenannte CPT-Theorem. Dieses sagt aus, dass aus diesen allgemeinen Voraussetzungen — wir verweisen für Einzelheiten hier auf die Literatur [34–36] — die Invarianz der Theorie für die Zusammensetzung (Produkt) aller drei Operationen C, P und T (in irgend einer Reihenfolge) bereits folgt.

Dieses hat unter anderem zur Folge, dass die Massen von Teilchen und Antiteilchen (allgemeiner die Energiewerte eines Systems von Teilchen und die der zu ihnen *C*-konjugierten Teilchen einander gleich sein müssen. (W Pauli [39, §1].)

[...Very general and well-founded assumptions, including the requirement of Lorentz invariance in special relativity, imply the so-called CPT theorem. The theorem states that these general assumptions (for details see $[34-36]^3$) immediately imply the invariance of the theory relative to the union (product) of all three operations C, P, T (in an arbitrary order).

This in turn implies, among other things, that the masses of particles and antiparticles (in the general case — energy levels of a system of particles and a system of chargeconjugated particles) must be identical. (W Pauli [39, §1].)]

• ...We assume further for the sake of simplicity the *local* character of the field equation, which means that all field quantities are spinors or tensors of finite rank and that the interaction part of the Lagrangian (or the Hamiltonian) contains only derivatives of finite order of these field quantities... (W Pauli [36, § 1].)

• Unabhängig von Schwinger [35] kam Lüders [34] zu dem sehr nahverwandten Resultat, dass unter sehr weiten Voraussetzungen eine P invariante Theorie, in welcher die normalen Vertauschungsrelationen bestehen, automatisch CT invariant ist.

Die endgültide und allgemeine Formulierung des hier zuständigen Theorems aber stammt wiederum von Pauli [36] und lautet CTP *Theorem*: Eine Bezüglich der eigentlichen Lorentzgruppe invariante Feldtheorie mit normalen Vertauschungsrelationen ist auch CTP invariant.

Der Fortschritt der neuen Fassung besteht darin, dass (natürlich vor der Entdeckung der Paritätsverletzung) nur die Invarianz bezüglich der eigentlichen Lorentzgruppe vorausgesetzt wird. Ausserdem wird das Theorem fur beliebigen Spin bewiesen, während Lüders sich auf die wichtigsten Spinwerte 0, 1/2 und 1 beschränkt... (R Jost [40, Abschn. 1, § 3].)

[Lüders, independently of Schwinger [35], obtained a very similar result [34], namely that under not very restricting assumptions, a P-invariant theory with conventional commutation relations is automatically invariant under CT.

However, the final and general formulation of this theorem is again Pauli's [36]; the CPT *theorem* states: a field theory with conventional commutation relations, invariant under the Lorentz eigengroup, is also CPT-invariant.

The advantage of the new formulation is the fact that only invariance under the Lorentz eigengroup is assumed (obviously, prior to the discovery of parity nonconservation). Furthermore, the theorem is proven for an arbitrary spin while Lüders only considered the more important spin values 0, 1/2 and 1... (R Jost [40, Ch. 1, § 3].)]

• Normal commutation relations are defined as follows: tensor fields (belonging to one-valued representations of L_+^{\uparrow}) commute with themselves and with the spinor fields (belonging to two-valued representations of L_+^{\uparrow}) at space-like separation; spinor fields anticommute at space-like separation...

If we anticipate the results of the last chapter, where particles are introduced into Wightman field theory, then the above results imply the law of connection between spin and statistics: particles with integer spin obey Bose–Einstein statistics, particles with half integer spin obey Fermi–Dirac statistics. (R Jost [41, Ch. V, § 3].)

² The general situation with the origin of the neutrino mass and neutrino oscillations was discussed in reviews by Gershtein, Kuznetsov, and Ryabov [14] and Kozlov, Martem'yanov, and Mukhin [15] published in 1997 in *Physics Uspekhi*, and also in a review by Bettini [16] [*Physics Uspekhi*, (2001)]; for the latest data on oscillations, see Wark's plenary talk [17] in Amsterdam, as well as *Review of Particle Physics*, 2004 (the general review by Kayser [18], reviews by Vogel and Piepke [19], Groom [20], and Nakamura [21]) and recent reviews [22–33].

³ For nonlocal theories Jost [37] produced a condition equivalent to the CPT theorem that holds identically for local theories. For further applications see [38]. (*Pauli's comment* [39, § 1].)

• Let us next consider the restrictions imposed by the requirement that the theory be invariant under (Wigner) time inversion. An important theorem by Pauli [36] and Lüders [34] (this discovery was essentially anticipated by Shell (1948) and by Schwinger [42]), and currently known as the TCP theorem, asserts that within the framework of relativistically invariant local field theories, assuming the usual connection between spin and statistics, invariance under time reversal is equivalent to invariance under $U_{\rm P}U_{\rm C}$, i.e., the combined operation of charge conjugation $(U_{\rm C})$ and space inversion $(U_{\rm P})$. In a Lagrangian formulation, the TCP theorem is a result of the assumed invariance under the proper Lorentz transformation, the Lagrangian hermiticity, the locality of the theory, and the assumption that particles of internal spin (bosons) must obey Bose-Einstein statistics and those of half-integral spin (fermions) must obey Fermi-Dirac statistics, i.e., the particles obey the usual connection with statistics. ([43, Part 3, 10b, p. 264].)

• ...Hence it follows that the Lagrangian (14.16) from which we have demanded only that it must be Hermitian and invariant under the proper Lorentz transformations, is also invariant under PCT (CPT, TCP, and so on). This is the essence of the Lüders – Pauli CPT theorem (for further details see Pauli [36] and Grawert, Lüders and Rollnik [44]). The above discussion can readily be generalized to the case of an arbitrary Hermitian Lagrangian, written in the form of a polynomial of finite degree in the fields and their derivatives (of finite order) which transform in accordance with the irreducible representations of the proper Lorentz group.

The requirement that the interaction is local has played an essential role in the above discussion. In the axiomatic formulation of quantum field theory, this requirement can be made less stringent. The proof of the CPT theorem in axiomatic approach has been given by Jost [41], Streater and Wightman [45], and Bogolyubov, Logunov, and Todorov [46]. In this approach, it is also assumed that the Lagrangian is written in the form of the normal product and there is a connection between spin and statistics: fields with integer spin commute with one another and with other fields, whereas fields with half-integer spin anticommute with one another but commute with integer-spin fields. ([47, Ch. II, § 14].)

• The TCP-theorem is remarkable because a discrete symmetry is shown to exist in theories which, to begin with, are only assumed to be invariant under connected continuous groups.... (R Jost [41, Ch. V, \S 2].)

• ...A very important consequence concerns the equality [48] of masses and total lifetimes of particle and antiparticle, a result which is true irrespective of the particle conjugation non-invariance of the weak decay interactions.... ([49, Ch. 3, § 5].)

3. The theoretical and experimental status of CPT

The general principles of quantum field theory that lie at the foundation of the CPT theorem and were formulated in the mid-20th century connect any violation of the CPT invariance with far-reaching changes in fundamental concepts of the theory such as the causality principle (locality of the Lagrangian) and the relation between spin and statistics (see, e.g., Ref. [50]). Hence, a critical discussion of modern unconventional (and also Lorentz-noninvariant) theories involving CPT violation and their experimental testing are necessary elements in the progress of physics. Further

theoretical scrutiny of the current status of the CPT and of the conditions of validity of the CPT theorem are no less important.

Does the Lorentz invariance (LI) still hold in the theory when the CPT symmetry breaks down, the way this occurs in models with unequal masses of particles and antiparticles $(\bar{m} \neq m)$? As follows from Greenberg's paper [51], the answer is negative: the general Greenberg theorem states that the interacting fields that break the CPT symmetry inevitably break the LI as well. The CPT invariance here is necessary but not sufficient for the LI. Theories that break the CPT symmetry as a consequence of mass difference between particles and antiparticles must be nonlocal. Greenberg then discusses what the property of locality may mean in quantum field theory.

The starting points of Greenberg's work are as follows [51]. Quantum field theory is Lorentz-covariant on the mass shell if vacuum matrix elements of unordered products of the fields $\phi(x_n)$ (Wightman functions $W^{(n)}$ [45]) are covariant. The Lorentz covariance (in fact, the Poincaré covariance) on the mass shell is assumed from the beginning. Quantum field theory is covariant off the mass shell if the vacuum matrix elements of time-ordered products of the fields (τ functions) are covariant. For the LI to hold, quantum field theory must be covariant both on and off the mass shell.

Greenberg's proof employs Jost's axiomatic approach. Jost formulated the fundamental theorem [37] stating that the necessary and sufficient condition of the CPT symmetry is that the so-called weak local commutativity hold at Jost points in the form

$$W^{(n)}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) = W^{(n)}(x_n, x_{n-1}, \dots, x_1),$$
(1)

where $W^{(n)}$ are defined by the equalities

$$W^{(n)}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) = \langle 0 | \phi(x_1) \phi(x_2) \dots \phi(x_n) | 0 \rangle.$$
 (2)

Because the τ functions can be expressed in terms of the properly arranged sum of Wightman functions, it follows that the invariance condition is a constraint on $W^{(n)}$ given by relations (1), i.e., by the condition of weak local commutativity; this immediately implies the CPT symmetry. Consequently, any violation of the CPT invariance in any of the Wightman functions signifies noncovariance of the corresponding τ function and, hence, breaking of the LI of the theory. Greenberg also noted that there was no reason to deny the possibility of CPT violation in scattering and other physical processes even if particles and antiparticles had equal masses.

In a later paper, Greenberg [52] gave a critical analysis of an attempt to justify the model with CPT violation caused by $\bar{m} \neq m$ [53] by introducing free hybrid ('homeotic') fields that are, in the case of appropriate normalization, linear combinations of positive- and negative-frequency components of Dirac fields with the masses m and -m. It was shown that even though such free fields could satisfy the Lorentz covariance condition on the mass shell, the interacting hybrid fields inevitably violate the Lorentz covariance in accordance with the Greenberg theorem [51]. The model proposed in Ref. [53] cannot serve as an example of a theory with CPT violation. When discussing the fundamental nature of the CPT symmetry in quantum field theory as compared to other discrete symmetries or their combinations, Greenberg emphasized that for LI to result in CPT, it is necessary and sufficient to have a certain weakened form of space-time commutativity (or anticommutativity) the so-called weak local commutativity (WLC).⁴ This remark explains why free fields with $\bar{m} \neq m$ can satisfy LI on the mass shell but at the same time violate the CPT symmetry.

Summarizing his investigation of the relation of the LI of a theory to the CPT symmetry, Greenberg [54] returned to the question of what was lacking for the CPT symmetry to hold (in the presence of LI). "A free or generalized free field can be Lorentz covariant but not obey CPT invariance if the particle and antiparticle masses are different [51]. What fails in that case is that WLC does not hold at Jost points.... Note that although the fields in these examples transform covariantly their time-ordered products are not covariant. Thus if we require that time-ordered products be covariant as part of Lorentz covariance of a theory then, as shown in [51], free fields that violate CPT are not covariant. See [52] for a detailed analysis of hybrid Dirac fields ('homeotic' fields [53]) which can be covariant only when they are noninteracting but even in the free case have time-ordered products that are not covariant [54]."

The information given above on the general theoretical status of the CPT problem are directly connected with the experimental study of CPT conservation (in elementary particle physics⁵ and also in neutrino physics) — from the standpoint of both standard field-theory approaches (mostly discussed in Sections 4.1–4.3, 5.1, 6.1 and partially in Section 6.2) and more contemporary models (see Sections 4.4, 5.2, 5.3, 6.2–6.4, and 7) in which the sources of possible CPT violation⁶ are typically tied to theories of extended objects and to quantum gravity.

We also need to remind the reader that the exceptional importance of testing the CPT experimentally was first understood in connection with the discovery of the violation of P-, C- and CP invariance (see review talk [63] and review [64]).

The constraint that is usually quoted is the rigid constraint on CPT violation due to the difference $\Delta(\mathbf{K}^0, \mathbf{\bar{K}}^0)$ of the masses of \mathbf{K}^0 - and $\mathbf{\bar{K}}^0$ -mesons: $|m_{\mathbf{K}^0} - m_{\mathbf{\bar{K}}^0}|/\langle m_{\mathbf{K}} \rangle < 10^{-18}$ [65, p. 73]. However, because this difference caused by the transition $\mathbf{K}^0 \to \mathbf{\bar{K}}^0$ is small from the very beginning, this constraint is not exclusively characteristic of the CPT-odd interaction: the true parameters of CPT nonconservation in the $\mathbf{K}^0 - \mathbf{\bar{K}}^0$ [56] system can only be bounded at the level $10^{-3} - 10^{-4}$ (see review [66] and also [67]).⁷ The general constraints imposed by analyticity and discrete symmetries P, C, CP, TCP on the description of binary systems of neutral mesons of the type ($\mathbf{K}^0, \mathbf{\bar{K}}^0$) were obtained in the framework of quantum field theory in [68].

The best bound on the CPT violation in the lepton sector is dictated by the relative difference between the *g*-factors of the electron and the positron [65]:

$$\frac{g_{\rm e^+} - g_{\rm e^-}}{\langle g_{\rm e} \rangle} = (-0.5 \pm 2.1) \times 10^{-12}$$

The current status of the CPT symmetry was also presented in recent reviews [69-73]:⁸ the first four discuss theoretical sources and experimental constraints on CPT violation. The talk [73] dealing with the classification of the effects of breakdown of all discrete symmetries also describes the relation between CPT violation and the Hermitian nature of the Lagrangian of the theory. The processes discussed are those that have not yet been studied experimentally. These are the circular polarization of γ quanta in the $\pi^0 \rightarrow 2\gamma$ and $\eta^0 \rightarrow 2\gamma$ decays (and also the longitudinal polarization of muons in the decay $\eta^0 \rightarrow \mu^+\mu^-$) and circular polarization of photons in the decay of parapositronium.⁹ It is emphasized that in contrast to the case where $\bar{m} \neq m$, the above examples of CPT-odd polarizations can be formulated in a Lorentz-invariant manner.

4. General consequences of hypothetical CPT violation in neutrino physics

The history of studying the relation between possible CPT violation and neutrino physics and neutrino oscillations (NO) covers two decades. The first attempt was the paper by Bigi in 1982 [74]. Starting with the speculations in the literature on possible violation of LI outside the Standard Model that were detectable in the lepton sector of the theory, Bigi investigated not the possibility of interpreting the NO data but a more general problem of expanding the range of phenomena and experiments whose analysis could promise sufficient progress in improving the sensitivity of results to CPT violation. Bigi pointed out that at least in principle, the effects of CP and CPT nonconservation could be separated: CPT conservation signifies the equality of the probabilities $P(v_{\alpha} \rightarrow v_{\beta}) = P(\bar{v}_{\beta} \rightarrow \bar{v}_{\alpha})$, while CP conservation results in the equality $P(v_{\alpha} \rightarrow v_{\beta}) = P(\bar{v}_{\alpha} \rightarrow \bar{v}_{\beta})$; here and throughout the text, the indices α , β of the neutrino v denote its flavor: $\alpha, \beta = e, \mu, \tau$. The subsequent description of neutrino oscillations for $m_{\bar{v}} \neq m_v$ in the case of CPT violations was achieved by introducing a double set of parameters without writing the Lagrangian (see also monograph [69]) and without introducing an explicit definition of the masses of v and \bar{v} . Obviously, this description corresponds at the same time to the violation of the LI (see remarks on the discussion in the first part of Section 3) with all the consequences implied for the theory. As a result, the neutrino oscillation models with $m_v \neq m_{\bar{v}}$ mentioned in Section 7 are theoretically unfounded and in fact incorrect.

We also note that the discussion in [75] of the relation of the CP, T, and CPT symmetries to NO made it quite clear for

⁴ We note that only the normal spin-statistics relationship is possible in the axiomatic approach to quantum field theory as discussed here, because selecting incorrect commutation relations for the field results in the field vanishing identically (see, e.g., Ref. [43, Ch. 17, § 1]).

⁵ See, e.g., reviews on CPT conservation [55, 56] (Review of Particle Physics, 2004).

⁶ Two approaches are typically mentioned in connection with the mechanisms that could produce spontaneous CPT violations in string theories: one phenomenological [57] and the other based on decoherence due to quantum gravity effects [58] (see also [59, 60] and review talks [61, 62]).

⁷ The reason for this is that, as was pointed out in Ref. [66], it is more logical to compare the magnitude of $\Delta(K^0, \bar{K}^0)$ not with $\langle m_K \rangle$ but with the CP- and CPT-even difference $\Delta(K_L, K_S)$.

⁸ It must be noted that neither monograph [69] nor paper [74] used by the authors of Ref. [69] contain a theoretical justification of the validity of the relations in the case of unequal masses of the neutrino and the antineutrino. What is hiding behind this fact is in all likelihood an internal inconsistency in these relations.

⁹ The decays listed above preserve the C parity, while the magnitude of the PT-odd effect of the **sk**-type correlation of the photon spin and momentum is controlled by the difference $\beta = g^*h - gh^*$, where g and h are the coefficients in the effective Lagrangian with scalar and pseudoscalar terms. Therefore, an experimental observation of the effect would indicate that $\beta \neq 0$, i.e., that the CPT symmetry is violated because the Lagrangian is non-Hermitian.

some time (see also review [72]) that if the CPT symmetry is preserved, the effects of CP and T violation could only occur in experiments that would monitor an excess of neutrinos with the initial flavor. At the same time, CPT violation may also manifest itself (in contrast to the CP- or T-noninvariance) in experiments measuring the deficit of initial-flavor neutrinos.

4.1 Extension of the Standard Model: spontaneous Lorentz invariance and CPT violation

Regardless of paper [74] mentioned above but also in connection with searching for new more stringent constraints on the presence of Lorentz-noninvariant terms in the Lagrangian of the Standard Model, other perturbationtheory approaches to describing CPT-odd effects have been formulated. For instance, in order to construct a CPTnoninvariant generalization of the Standard Model in the framework of an effective low-energy theory, an approach was developed [76] for treating spontaneous CPT and LI violation in quantum field theory and in relativistic quantum mechanics. In this case, the neutrino component of the Lagrangian contains only left-handed neutrinos (L_a) and has the form [8]

$$\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{2} \,\mathrm{i}\bar{L}_a \gamma^{\mu} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{D}}_{\mu} L_a - (a_{\mathrm{L}})_{\mu a b} \bar{L}_a \gamma^{\mu} L_b + \frac{1}{2} \,\mathrm{i}(c_{\mathrm{L}})_{\mu \nu a b} \bar{L}_a \gamma^{\mu} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{\mathbf{D}}^{\nu} L_b$$
(3)

where $\mu, \nu = 1, 2, 3, 4, a, b = e, \mu, \tau$, the first term is the standard kinetic term, the second and third terms correspond to LI violation, and the term with $a_{\rm L}$ corresponds to CPT violation. This extension of the Standard Model was carefully investigated in [77] taking gravity into account.¹⁰

A detailed general analysis of a possible violation of the LI and CPT symmetry in the neutrino sector, not using the assumption of space isotropy,¹¹ was given in Refs [8, 9]. The authors gave a clear scheme for estimating the sensitivity of various neutrino experiments relative to the value of three parameters — a_L and c_L involved in Lagrangian (3), and the difference between the squared masses of neutrino eigenstates Δm^2 , which determines the NO. It was shown that even in the framework of the simplest scheme (with a nonzero element $c_{\rm L}$ in the case of an isotropic effective Hamiltonian for the transitions $v_e \leftrightarrow v_e$ and with equal nonzero real elements a_L in the case of the preferred direction along the rotation axis of the earth for the transitions $v_e \leftrightarrow v_\mu$ and $v_e \leftrightarrow v_\tau$), it is still possible to reproduce the main features of the experimental behavior of the probabilities of the corresponding NO. The simplified model with two free parameters analyzed by the authors (instead of the usual four in the case of standard oscillations), with $\Delta m^2 = 0$ and no $v \leftrightarrow \bar{v}$ mixing, predicts, among other things, that LI violation should cause a considerable azimuthal dependence for the number of atmo-

¹⁰ For a discussion of the problem of calculation of the NO phase in curved space – time see, e.g., Refs [78, Pt. II; 79, 80] and the references therein.

spheric neutrinos and a large decrease in the half-annual variation in the flux of solar neutrinos during some weeks before and after the equinox. The authors of Ref. [8] emphasized that the model serves to illustrate certain key effects caused by LI violation and demonstrates how the presence of Lorentz noninvariance and CPT nonconservation on the $M_{\rm Pl}$ scale can be identified using a certain signal in NO.

The results of analyzing the consequences of the Standard Model extension for neutrino physics [8] were summarized in a recent talk [9], which gave an exhaustive description of the theoretical investigation of LI and CPT violation in NO. This work is based on considering the standard equations of motion for the Dirac and Majorana neutrinos, in which matrices in the spinor space are rewritten in a more general form:

$$(\mathrm{i}\Gamma_{AB}^{\nu}\partial_{\nu} - M_{AB})\nu_{B} = 0\,,\tag{4}$$

$$\Gamma^{\nu}_{AB} \equiv \gamma^{\nu} \delta_{AB} + c^{\mu\nu}_{AB} \gamma_{\mu} + d^{\mu\nu}_{AB} \gamma_5 \gamma_{\mu} + e^{\nu}_{AB} + \mathrm{i} f^{\nu}_{AB} \gamma_5 + \frac{g^{\lambda\mu\nu}_{AB} \sigma_{\lambda\mu}}{2} ,$$

$$M_{AB} \equiv m_{AB} + \mathrm{i} m_{5AB} \gamma_5 + a^{\mu}_{AB} \gamma_{\mu} + b^{\mu}_{AB} \gamma_5 \gamma_{\mu} + \frac{H^{\mu\nu}_{AB} \sigma_{\mu\nu}}{2} .$$
(5)

Here, all neutrino fields (including the C-conjugate ones) are collected into a single spinor v_B ; A, B = 1, 2, ..., 2N, where Nis the number of neutrino types; $\lambda, \mu, \nu = 1, 2, 3, 4$; m and m_5 are the mass terms, and the other coefficients in (4) correspond to LI violation, with a, b, e, f, g determining CPT violation. If the coefficients of the type g and H are nonzero, a $\nu \leftrightarrow \bar{\nu}$ mixing arises. In the framework of the scheme described here, the terms with LI violation are characterized by dimensionless combinations of $a^{\mu}L, b^{\mu}L$, $H^{\mu\nu}L$ and $c^{\mu\nu}LE, d^{\mu\nu}LE, g^{\lambda\mu\nu}LE$ and can be reduced to direction-dependent effects in oscillations.

4.2 Additional perturbation-theory terms with violation

of Lorentz invariance, CPT, and the equivalence principle Similarly to the approach in [76], outlined in Section 4.1, Coleman and Glashow [85] developed a general scheme aimed at introducing Lorentz-noninvariant and CPT-nonsymmetric perturbation-theory terms into the theory. Coleman and Glashow [85] started with the specific problem of testing special relativity theory in connection with cosmic rays and NO [86-89]. A renormalizable and gauge-invariant CPTodd LI-violating additional term in the Standard Model Lagrangian results in the emergence of the maximum attainable velocity (MAV) of particles and, in addition, is invariant under rotations in a certain preferred reference frame. Each particle type a is put in correspondence with not only the mass m_a that characterizes it but also the MAV value in a vacuum denoted by c_a , with $c_a \neq c_{\gamma}$. It has been found that this assumption is sufficient [85, 86] for oscillations to appear even with massless neutrinos,12 which are typically described in terms of the differences $\Delta c_{v} \equiv c_{v_i} - c_{v_i}$ and angles of the corresponding mixing matrix for MAV eigenstates. In the most general form, the neutrino eigenstates with a given momentum p are characterized in the ultrarelativistic case by the following sum of three Hermitian 3×3 -matrices [85, 89]:

$$\hat{c}p + \frac{\hat{m}^2}{2p} + \hat{b}. \tag{6}$$

¹² "Massless neutrinos cannot oscillate if special relativity is unbroken. However, they can oscillate if different neutrinos travel at slightly different speeds *in vacua*." [86].

¹¹ The isotropy of space was tested relatively recently in measurements of the direction independence of the gravitational constant *G*, in experiments with light propagation using the theory and practical methods of wave front inversion [81], as well as in experiments measuring the amplitude A(t) in the angular dependence $1 + A(t) \cos \theta$ of the emission of e^- in βdecay of ⁹⁰Sr, where θ is the angle relative to the South – North axis. It was found that $\Delta G/G$ does not exceed the level 10^{-10} (see, e.g., the analysis in Ref. [82]) and that the speed of light in air and refraction index in glass are independent of direction, at least to within 5×10^{-8} [83]; the upper bound on *A* was found to be 1.4×10^{-5} (90% CL) [84].

Here, \hat{c} is the matrix of MAV values for the neutrino, \hat{m}^2 is the diagonal matrix of squared Majorana masses, $m^2 = mm^{\dagger}$, and \hat{b} is the matrix related to the CPT-noninvariant additional term $\bar{v}_{\alpha} b^{\alpha\beta}_{\mu} v_{\beta}$ in the Lagrangian (the case of timelike $b_{\mu} \sim (b, \mathbf{b})$ for $\mathbf{b} = 0$ is considered). The matrices \hat{c} and \hat{m}^2 determine the energy eigenstates as MAV states in the high-energy limit and as mass states in the low-energy limit, respectively. In the case of oscillations of the neutrino of two flavors, the expression for the probability of a diagonal transition on the baseline *L* is given by

$$P(v_{\alpha} \to v_{\alpha}) = 1 - \sin^2 2\Theta \sin^2 \frac{L\Phi}{4} .$$
 (7)

The generalized mixing angle Θ and the phase factor Φ are written explicitly in terms of eight parameters, three mixing angles θ_m , θ_b , and θ_c , three differences Δm^2 , Δb , and Δc corresponding to the matrices \hat{m}^2 , \hat{b} , and \hat{c} , and two complex phases η and η' :

$$\Phi \sin 2\Theta = |\Delta m^2 E^{-1} \sin 2\theta_m + 2 \exp(i\eta) \Delta b \sin 2\theta_b + 2 \exp(i\eta') \Delta c E \sin 2\theta_c|, \qquad (8)$$
$$\Phi \cos 2\Theta = |\Delta m^2 E^{-1} \cos 2\theta_m + 2 \exp(i\eta) \Delta b \cos 2\theta_b + 2 \exp(i\eta') \Delta c E \cos 2\theta_c|.$$

Clearly, the type of possible LI and CPT violation can be found from the essentially different dependences of the terms containing Δm^2 , Δb , and Δc on *E*.

The phase of neutrino oscillations caused by the violation of the equivalence principle (EP) of general relativity (first treated in Refs [91, 92]) depends on E in the same way as the term with Δc . We should expect that a natural corollary of EP violation in gravity theories discussed currently in the literature¹³ would also be LI and CPT nonconservation. As mentioned in Ref. [87], the phenomenological equivalence of NO under EP or LI violation makes it possible to calculate the constraints on the parameters Δc and θ_c from the range of values of $|\phi \Delta f|$ and $\sin 2\theta_G$ found in the former case (ϕ is the dimensionless gravitation potential, Δf characterizes the degree of EP violation, and θ_G is the corresponding mixing angle). In addition to references to previous publications on the relation of NO to the effects of EP violation, ¹⁴ paper [87] offers an important general statement that the experimental observation of neutrino oscillations in itself is insufficient for a decisive conclusion on the nonzero mass of at least one of the neutrinos, because the oscillations may be caused by a very small violation of LI and/or EP.

4.3 A remark on the type of neutrino mass and the lepton number conservation

We discussed the initial introduction of LI violation in the lepton sector in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 for Majorana masses. In general, the situation with regard to extending the Standard Model appears to be more complicated [99]. First of all, we do not know whether neutrino processes violate the conservation of the lepton number L and whether neutrinos are identical to their own antiparticles. In itself, introduction of the Dirac neutrino mass into the model keeps L conserved. We note that any nonconservation of L would imply the presence of Majorana mass terms that transform the neutrino into an antineutrino. With CPT conserved and in the presence of Majorana masses, the mass eigenvalues are of the Majorana type, i.e., the neutrino is its own antiparticle. If the CPT symmetry is conserved but the theory has no Majorana mass terms, then mass states are of the Dirac type, L is conserved, and the neutrinoless double β -decay is forbidden. Barenboim et al. [99] discuss CPT violations using a simple example of a theory with a single neutrino v interacting with the electron, and its CPT-conjugate antiparticle \bar{v} coupled to the positron. The neutrino mass matrix M_v in the selected direction of spin has the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mu + \Delta & y^* \\ y & \mu - \Delta \end{pmatrix},\tag{9}$$

where the upper row corresponds to the neutrino and the lower to the antineutrino. For stable neutrinos, the matrix M_v is Hermitian and hence the parameters μ and Δ (Dirac masses) are real; $\Delta \neq 0$ indicates CPT violation and $y \neq 0$ (Majorana mass) indicates nonconservation of L. An analysis shows that the neutrino mass eigenstate for $\Delta \neq 0$ cannot correspond to a Majorana particle any more. Nevertheless, if $y \neq 0$, we have mixing of v with \bar{v} , the lepton number L is not conserved, and the neutrinoless double β -decay is allowed.

4.4 'Nonstandard' mechanisms of violating Lorentz invariance, CPT, and the equivalence principle (decoherence, modification of dispersion relations)

'Nonstandard' sources of LI or EP violation and novel NO mechanisms are usually connected with certain properties of the vacuum on Planckian (or even considerably larger) scales. These aspects were treated in recent review talks [10, 100], which offered arguments in favor of the inherent sensitivity of the NO to CPT violation in comparison with experimental data involving other particles. The mechanism that could explain the loss of unitarity in quantum gravity [58, 59] which would result in LI and CPT violation in one form or another — is so far illustrated only by a hypothetical, although visually clear picture of the manifestation of the space-time structure (the 'foam') at the quantum level; this is caused by the creation and annihilation of black holes and large metric fluctuations accompanied by the generation of virtual horizons. In these talks, Mavromatos starts with the idea (see, e.g., Ref. [101]) that when a particle crosses such horizons, the information on its state may be partly lost.¹⁵ Correspondingly, it is suggested that the density matrix with $\rho_{\text{out}} = \$ \rho_{\text{in}}, \$ \neq SS^{\dagger}, \text{ where } S \text{ is the conventional scattering}$ matrix and \mathcal{S} is the noninvertible matrix introduced by Hawking, be considered instead of a pure quantum-mechanical state. One consequence is the loss of unitarity in the effective low-energy theory and CPT violation in accordance with Wald's theorem [102], which states that if $\beta \neq SS^{\dagger}$, then the CPT theorem is violated, at least in its rigorous form, because the CPT operator is ill-defined. In this connection, Mavromatos [10] discussed the problem of the relation

¹³ Halprin and Leung [93] considered oscillations (even for massless massdegenerate neutrinos) caused by EP violation due to string theory effects (see also Ref. [94]) that contribute to macroscopic gravity, itself caused by the scalar dilaton partner of the graviton [95].

¹⁴ See in addition papers [96–98], which discuss experiments carried out by the time of publication on solar, accelerator (including LSND), and atmospheric neutrinos.

¹⁵ Hawking stated in his talk at the GR (*17th Intern. Conf. on General Relativity and Gravitation, Dublin, July 2004*) that information is not lost when black holes are formed or evaporate because in all likelihood the true (not the apparent) horizon is never generated.

between this scenario of CPT symmetry breaking and the LI (see Refs [103, 104]). A range of aspects of this problem are considered in Mavromatos's other publications, in which he also discusses other possibilities, e.g., the ill-defined definition of antiparticle [105], as well as the idea of direct violation of CPT [100] caused by a nonzero Λ -term that accelerates the expansion of the universe and results in the formation of a cosmological horizon.

In addition to a brief review of theoretical ideas concerning CPT violation at lengths of the order of $M_{\rm OG}^{-1}$ that are characteristic of quantum gravity, Mavromatos [10] considered a wide range of aspects of phenomenological tests of the CPT symmetry in various neutrino processes, including astrophysical and cosmological manifestations. He also reviewed a number of papers that assume that the above picture is valid and investigated whether it is possible to use the available data, including NO data, for the evaluation of parameters that characterize, first, the openness of the system that results in quantum-mechanical decoherence¹⁶ (see Refs [58–60]) in accordance with the right-hand side of the Liouville equation

$$\dot{\rho} - \mathbf{i}[\rho, H] = \delta H \rho \,, \tag{10}$$

and second, the distortion of standard dispersion relations (DR) (see Refs [107–109]) via the addition of new terms (which are represented in the general case by a model-dependent function F),

$$E^{2} = p^{2} + m^{2} - F(E, \mathbf{p}, M_{\rm QG}), \qquad (11)$$

resulting in CPT and LI violation.¹⁷

In contrast to the analysis of renormalizable Lorentznoninvariant terms in Refs [76, 85, 86] that we discussed in Section 4.2, the general discussion of the possible LI violation on Planck scales that would affect NO was focused on studying renormalizable effects [113] that result in the energy dependence of the oscillation length of the type $L_{\text{osc}} \propto E^{-n}$ with n = 2. A dependence with $n \neq -1$ is essential evidence of LI and CPT violation [114]: the cases with n = 0 published in the literature [79, 86, 115],¹⁸ n = 1 [85, 91], n = 2 [117–119],¹⁹ and n = -3 [121]²⁰ belong to this group. We note that all possible terms in the effective action that are renormalizable and invariant under rotations correspond to $n = 0, \pm 1$.

Lambiase [79] used n = 0 and considered the consequences of EP violation in noninertial reference frames; if

¹⁹ In the case considered of m = 0, we have $L_{\rm osc} \propto M_{\rm QG}^2/E^2$ in a *q*-deformed noncommutative theory [120] if it is assumed that LI is violated as a result of unequal values of MAV due to recoil effects in neutrino scattering by virtual D-branes [108].

²⁰ EP violation in effective Schwarzschild geometry modified by the hypothetical presence of the maximum acceleration $A_{\rm m} = 2mc^3/\hbar$ in the chosen gravity model corresponds to $L_{\rm osc} \propto \Delta m^2/E^3$ [122] (see also Ref. [80]).

 $\Delta m^2 = 0$ and linear acceleration is zero, $L_{\rm osc}^{-1} \propto \omega \cos \beta$, where ω is the angular momentum of the system (in the case of the earth, $\omega \sim 7 \times 10^{-5}$ rad s⁻¹) and β is the angle between the rotation axis and the momentum of the neutrino. Lambiase also points to the fact (already discussed in the literature) that the choice of metric affects the estimates of EP violation from NO data.

Adunas et al. [121], setting the dependence on energy to correspond to n = -3, started with the assumption that the standard commutation relation has to be modified on Planck scales to the form $[\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}] = i\hbar(1 + L_{\rm Pl}^2\mathbf{p}^2/\hbar^2)$, where $L_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3} \sim 10^{-33}$ cm. This quantum violation of EP is considered because it can be tested in the next generation of atomic interference experiments and because it may provide an explanation of solar neutrino experiments; the anticipated expression for the NO length is $L_{\rm osc} \propto E^3/(\Delta m^2)^2$.

The general case of a phenomenological description of oscillations of neutrinos with two flavors treated as an open system was analyzed in detail by Benatti and Floreanini [123]. Dissipation effects on the right-hand side of (10) were treated in the approximation in which quantum gravity results in linear decoherence (with a linear dependence on the density matrix);²¹ they are simply parameterized by six real variables. These quantities are related via a number of inequalities that correspond to the property of 'total positivity' required to ensure that the density matrix, which describes the states of the extended system that includes not only neutrinos but also their microenvironment with a characteristic scale length, is positive. Three additional parameters are then introduced into the effective Hamiltonian; they correspond to the interaction with the surrounding part of the system (for simplicity, the authors kept only the parameter that is additive to the conventional parameter $\Delta m^2/2E$).

Benatti and Floreanini [123] obtained and analyzed formulas for the NO probability in the case of a general dependence of decoherence effects on all parameters; they emphasized that these effects manifest themselves even with massless neutrinos and depend on the CP-odd phase, which is present in the mixing matrix for the Majorana neutrino. In principle, this feature may serve to distinguish this case from that of the Dirac neutrino.

5. Experimental and observational consequences of a hypothetical CPT violation in neutrino physics

In this section, we give information on publications dealing with those specific models of CPT, LI, and EP violation in various neutrino processes where flavor changes and for which the estimates of parameters that characterize the appropriate violation were obtained by comparison with measurement data. Information on this is also given at the end of Section 6.1 and in Sections 6.2 and 6.4.

5.1 Evaluations of parameters of LI and CPT violation (not violating the equivalence principle)

In this section, ²² we review papers that consider constraints on the parameters of LI and CPT violation (with the EP not violated); these parameters are predicted or expected on the basis of analyzing NO manifestations.

¹⁶ Nonunitary evolution of a quantum system in which a pure state is transformed into a mixed one was discussed by Marinov [106], who used equations of a type similar to (10).

¹⁷ Mavromatos [10] also discussed a nonlinear modification of LI, both in connection with unitary inequivalence of Fock's flavor and mass spaces in the NO description in quantum field theory [110], and in view of the natural requirement of invariant definition of the scale of Planck lengths (energies) [111, 112].

¹⁸ Cases of energy-independent NO at $m_v = 0$ are treated in [116]: by analogy with solid state physics, LI and CPT violations are introduced in the fermion vacuum of quantum field theory.

 $^{^{21}}$ This linear approximation may not comply with the comprehensive theory [124] (see also Ref. [104]).

²² See also the end of Section 6.2.

I S Tsukerman

A comparison of expressions (5)–(7) with neutrino data of the 1990s showed that Lorentz-noninvariant terms are found to be too small and do not affect the interpretation of the available NO results (except for CPT-odd effects on very long baselines). At the same time, further investigation of oscillations of solar and accelerator neutrinos with $E \sim 10^3$ GeV and oscillations on the $L \sim 10^3$ km baseline may detect LI violation when $\Delta c \sim 10^{-25}$ [85, 89]. A recent analysis in [125] showed that a more stringent constraint than earlier ones may be obtained from the Super-Kamiokande (S-K) and MACRO experimental results for atmospheric neutrinos at $E \sim 100$ GeV and $L \sim 10^4$ km: $\Delta c < 10^{-25}$.

Barger et al. [126] treated the cases of the manifestation of CPT-odd effects caused by the interference of terms with Δm^2 and Δb in (7) when resonance amplification of the NO amplitude becomes possible at $\sin^2 2\Theta = 1$, by analogy to the MSW-resonance (observed when neutrinos pass through a sufficiently dense medium).²³ For instance, the resonance occurs when the denominator of the generalized mixing angle Θ

$$\tan 2\Theta = \frac{\kappa^2 \sin 2\theta}{\kappa^2 \cos 2\theta - 2\sqrt{2} G_{\rm F} E N_{\rm e}}$$
(12)

vanishes for $\alpha = e$ in (6) for a medium with the number density N_e in the simplified situation where $\theta_m = \theta_b \equiv \theta$ and $\eta = 0$; here, $\kappa^2 = \Delta m^2 + 2E\Delta b$ and G_F is the Fermi constant. Analyzing the CPT violation in atmospheric neutrinos, Barger et al. [126] assume that, in principle, it is possible to achieve estimates as low as $\Delta b \sim 5 \times 10^{-14}$ eV. Also, CPT violations at the 3σ level in neutrino factories could be detectable for $\Delta b \approx (1-3) \times 10^{-14}$ eV depending on the baseline length *L* (for the energy of stored muons 29 GeV).

At the same time, new analyses of the data on the absence of $v_{e,\mu} \rightarrow v_{\tau}$ oscillations in the latest accelerator short-baseline experiments CHORUS and NOMAD are expected to furnish the limiting values at the levels $\Delta b < 10^{-9}$ eV and $\Delta c < 10^{-20}$ [8].

Preprint [127] gives the results of studying LI violations in short-baseline NO experiments in the framework of the general formalism of the Standard Model extension that we described in Section 4.1 [see formulas (4) and (5)]. The use of the general form of parameterization of this effect [8, 9] allowed Kostelecky and Mewes [127] to consistently combine the descriptions of the results of the accelerator and reactor LSND experiments, ²⁴ CHOOZ and KARMEN. The twoflavor analysis of LSND data that covered a large number of parameters [the terms $a^{\mu}L$ and $c^{\mu\nu}LE$ in (5) correspond to taking 41 degrees of freedom into account, including the dependence on direction] yielded a nonzero value for a combination of coefficients that give the value of the LI violation. It is found to be $(3\pm1)\times10^{-19}$ GeV, which is characteristic of effects on the Planck scale of energies and is based on the probability $P(\bar{v}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{v}_{e}) \simeq 0.26 \pm 0.08\%$ measured in the LSND experiment.

As for the value of Δb , from a joint analysis [128] of the data on the solar neutrino and the expected sensitivity of the KamLAND reactor experiment, the obtained upper bound is at the level $10^{-11} - 10^{-12}$ eV. The result of the latest (June

2004) global fitting of solar and reactor data point to $\Delta b < 0.6 (1.5) \times 10^{-11}$ eV at $1\sigma (3\sigma)$, respectively [12].

A still more stringent restriction can be derived by taking the neutrino and the charged lepton sectors of the theory into account. An estimate for spatial components of the quantity *b* $(b_i < 10^{-17} \text{ eV})$ in the sector of left-handed neutrinos was obtained for models with heavy right-handed Majorana neutrinos [130] on the basis of the available (see [129]) very stringent restriction on the axial term $\bar{e}b_{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}e$ defined by the expression $|\mathbf{b}_{electron}| \leq 10^{-19} \text{ eV}$.²⁵ This estimate is weakened by four orders of magnitude $(b_i \sim 10^{-4}b_0)$ by accounting for the motion of the solar system relative to the galactic halo and that of the earth around the sun, such that the selection of a reference frame for b_{μ} brings the obtained constraint down to the level 10^{-13} eV — still much more stringent than is anticipated for direct neutrino experiments.

To make the manifestations of the possible LI and CPT violations in oscillations accessible for realistic observations, the neutrino sector should be 'shielded' [131] from the sector of charged leptons. Choubey and King [131] connected the implementation of this idea with a unique operator $h_{\alpha\beta}^{\mu\nu}(\nu_{\rm L}^{\rm C})_{\alpha}\sigma_{\mu\nu}(\nu_{\rm L})_{\beta}$ that emerges in the light left-handed neutrino sector via a seesaw-type mechanism through the introduction of the appropriate LI violation for the heavy Majorana neutrino characterized by the constants $H_{\alpha\beta}$. This approach results in nonconservation of the lepton number L $(\Delta L = 2)$, while the LI violation (with CPT conserved) valid for conventional neutrinos does not cover charged leptons via the radiation corrections in all orders of the perturbation theory. The appropriate oscillation length is found to be independent of energy (as it is in the case of flavor transitions, by virtue of the magnetic moment of the neutrino) and is determined only by the constants $H_{\alpha\beta}$. A comparison of this approach with experimental data provided the authors with a justification for generating the following constraints: $H_{\mu\tau} \lesssim 10^{-11} \text{ eV}$ (relative to atmospheric ν_{μ}), $H_{\mu\beta} \lesssim 10^{-13} \text{ eV}$ (relative to accelerator ν_{μ} on a long baseline), $H_{\mu\beta} \lesssim 10^{-14} \text{ eV}$ (relative to ν_{μ} in neutrino factories), $H_{e\beta} \lesssim 10^{-10} \text{ eV}$ (relative to v_e of the CHOOZ and Palo Verde reactors); the results of the KamLAND experiment with reactor neutrinos are described in this case for $H_{e\beta} \leq 7.2 \times 10^{-13}$ eV.

Finally, Datta et al. [132] calculated the ratios of the expected numbers of v_{μ} and \bar{v}_{μ} events in connection with new multikiloton magnetized iron calorimeter projects for studying atmospheric neutrinos in laboratories at Gran Sasso (Italy) and INO (India); the authors compared the predictions with those obtained with the CPT and LI violation approach. The obtained dependence of this ratio on *L*, *L/E*, and *LE* for a number of values of Δb and Δc confirmed the possibility of detecting these violations for $\Delta b > 3 \times 10^{-14}$ eV and $\Delta c > 7 \times 10^{-25}$. These constraints are more stringent than is expected in future neutrino factory projects.

Additional information on constraints for the quantities c and b in (8) that follow from NO data was presented in talk [72]. Similar information on constraining the parameters of the possible LI and CPT violation that follow from experiments with atomic systems and muons was reported in review talks [133]. Constraints on LI violation parameters on Planck scales are also obtained by analyzing the high-energy parts of

 $^{^{23}}$ The phenomenon of a resonance change of flavor of the MSW-transition type was reported earlier in [90–92] and in other papers on EP violation (see, e.g., the references in [87]).

²⁴ Attempts to explain the LSND anomaly are discussed in Sections 6.3 and 7; see also footnote 14 in Section 4.2.

²⁵ This constraint was obtained in a precision experiment with torsional balance in which the probe weight possessed certain remanent magnetization caused by the spin dipole moment (originating with the polarization of electrons).

the cosmic ray spectrum; these indicate that there is no effect of Cherenkov radiation in the vacuum for p, e, μ , and ν [134].

5.2 Violation of the equivalence principle in neutrino oscillations and in neutrino astrophysics

Review talk [135], which outlined the fundamentals of EP and LI violation in NO when neutrinos interact with the background gravitational field, presented the corresponding results of the analysis of solar and atmospheric neutrino data available at the end of 1990s, as well as references to earlier work.²⁶ The best constraint (the safest estimate) on the parameters Δc and $|\phi \Delta f|$ for atmospheric neutrinos was 6×10^{-24} and 3×10^{-24} , respectively, at 90% CL, regardless of the value of the mixing angle [138]. The result for solar neutrinos was found to fall to a similar level but was affected by the choice of assumptions. A detailed analysis of the atmospheric neutrino data available at the time with arbitrary values of the parameter n in the general expression for the oscillation length as a function of neutrino energy, $L_{\rm osc}^{-1} \propto E^n$, resulted in the constraint [138] $n = -0.9 \pm 0.4$ for 90% CL (n = -1 corresponds to ordinary oscillations of massive neutrinos). Still earlier results of experiments with atmospheric neutrinos failed to provide an opportunity to exclude any of the existing scenarios of EP violation in spin-J field exchange [139]: scalar with J = 0 and n = -1 (dilaton), vector with J = 1 and n = 0 (twisting in the Einstein – Cartan theory), tensor with J = 2 and n = +1 (graviton).

As shown in Ref. [140], we can also expect that estimates of EP violation can be obtained in a wide range of values of parameters by recording changes of neutrino flavor in ordinary NO manifestations in muon storage rings.

A detailed study of possible constraints on the EP and LI violation parameter in neutrino factories [141] led to the conclusion that measuring the T-odd probability difference $P(v_{\alpha} \rightarrow v_{\beta}) - P(v_{\beta} \rightarrow v_{\alpha})$ provides the most sensitive evaluation of this violation. A limiting value $|\phi \Delta f| \leq 10^{-26}$ [141], comparable to the maximum constraint in the (v_{μ}, v_{τ}) sector and obtained in Ref. [138] for atmospheric neutrinos v_{atm} using the S-K results, can be achieved for the sectors (v_e, v_{μ}) and (v_e, v_{τ}) with a suitable baseline of several thousand kilometers.

Guzzo et al. [142] gave a brief review of the literature on the consequences of EP violation in various neutrino processes, including neutrino astrophysics and primary nucleosynthesis.²⁷ It was shown that the absence of any significant indications of NO coming from the supernova SN1987A (i.e., the low probability of the $\bar{v}_e \rightarrow \bar{v}_{\mu,\tau}$ transitions) points to a very strong constraint on the corresponding parameters²⁸ for massless or mass-degenerate neutrinos: $|\Delta f| \leq O(10^{-31})$ and $\tan^2 \theta_G \ll 10^{-4}$. However, these constraints become invalid or weakened if the effect due to the mass is present. We note that in this case, an analysis of consequences of EP violation in NO, which may be detected in future observations of super-high-energy neutrinos arriving from cosmologically remote active nuclei of galaxies, is likely to yield an even stronger constraint, at the level $|\Delta f| \sim 10^{-41}$ [144].

EP violation may be directly related to the formation of neutrino stars, namely to the fact that pulsars at the moment of birth acquire considerable peculiar velocities. First evaluations of EP violation in resonance flavor transitions (for the maximum efficiency case of J = 2) that can sustain the required velocities in the anisotropic ejection of neutrinos from a presupernova (provided there is a magnetic field $> 10^{15}$ G) yielded the value $|\Delta f| \simeq 10^{-10} - 10^{-9}$ [145]. The translational and rotational motion of pulsars caused by directionality of neutrino ejection can be interpreted even in zero magnetic field [146] if resonance transitions are assumed to be caused by anisotropy effects [137] in the post-Newtonian approach to gravitational neutrino interactions.

Finally, Denisov et al. [147] recently attracted attention to the importance of simultaneous neutrino and optical monitoring of type-II presupernovas. The data on the time of recording and the characteristics of both signals, as well as the observation of the frequency difference in the spectra of atoms on the surface of the star before and after the neutrino ejection pulse, provide information both on the gravitational potential of the neutrino flux and the neutrino mass and on the possible EP violation.

Constraints on the EP violation parameter are also discussed in Section 6.3.

5.3 Manifestations of decoherence and modification of dispersion relations

This section mostly deals with neutrino processes involving flavor change owing to one of the three effects (see Section 4.4), two of which are caused by the quantum-mechanical decoherence. The analysis is based on Eqn (10) in the linear formalism mentioned at the end of Section 4.4, in correspondence with modified DR (11) in the Einstein, as well as in loop, quantum gravity; at the end of this section, we also mention several more exotic models with possible LI violation.²⁹

Several papers reported an analysis of NO data in the twoflavor approximation based on the possible decoherence effect that is described by the right-hand side of (10) and parameterized by six variables (as mentioned at the end of Section 4.4). Earlier attempts [148] of explaining the deficit of solar neutrinos, as well as data on atmospheric neutrinos, ignored the requirement of 'total positivity' that relates these parameters to one another. Then stringent constraints for one of them, $\gamma = \gamma_0 E^k$ (k = -1, 0, 1, 2), were found in the simplest single-parameter case (in the limit of the neutrinos weakly influenced by the surrounding medium); this parameter characterizes the suppression of the conventional oscillation term with Δm^2 through the additional factor exp $(-2\gamma L)$. Strong constraints for the parameter γ_0 were obtained from the atmospheric neutrino vatm data (for 90% CL, assuming k = 0 and k = 2), equal to 3.5×10^{-23} GeV and 0.9×10^{-27} GeV⁻¹, respectively [149]. A detailed analysis of a more realistic case of k = -1 [150] on the basis of the result of S-K and K2K experiments in the channel $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\tau}$ failed to detect evidence of the decoherence effect; however, it equally failed to eliminate its presence at $\Delta m^2 = 0$.

Earlier fitting of short-baseline reactor and accelerator experiments (CHOOZ, CHORUS, E776, CCFR) established upper bounds γ_0 for all values of k for 99% CL [151];

²⁶ Also see talk [114], paper [136], and the references therein, and also paper [79] mentioned earlier (in the second part of Section 4.4) and [137], where the gravitational interaction with the neutrino in the post-Newtonian approach takes into account, in addition to the potential ϕ , next-generation terms that describe new anisotropy effects.

²⁷ Also see Ref. [143] on NO in wormhole-type objects.

²⁸ Evaluations of EP violation expressed in terms of constraints on the parameter $|\phi \Delta f|$ typically assume that the quantity $\phi = \text{const} \sim 3 \times 10^{-5}$ is determined by the mass of the local galaxy supercluster.

²⁹ These topics are presented in detail in lectures [11].

constraints in the $v_{\mu} \rightarrow v_{\tau}$ channel were found to be considerably weaker than those obtained from solar neutrino data v_{sol} . By order of magnitude, they were 10^{-22} GeV², 5×10^{-22} GeV, 5×10^{-24} , and 10^{-26} GeV⁻¹, respectively, in the channel $v_{\mu} \rightarrow v_e$ for k = -1, 0, 1, 2 (it appears that the last two constraints will unlikely be improved using the data for v_{sol}); the limits in the channel $v_e \rightarrow v_{\tau}$ are such that the results are more stringent than those obtained for the v_{sol} data only if k = 2: $\gamma_0 \leq 10^{-24}$ GeV⁻¹.

The same authors conducted a quantitative analysis [152] of the potential uses of long-baseline accelerator experiments — K2K, MINOS, OPERA — and of a neutrino factory in order to discriminate between ordinary NO and NO due to pure decoherence effects in atmospheric transitions $v_{\mu} \rightarrow v_{\tau}$.

The next publication by the same authors [153] extended the initial formalism in [123] to the general approach that is independent of specifics of the model of decoherence interaction between the neutrino system and the surrounding matter to the three-flavor system and obtained explicit formulas for NO probabilities in this case; this work also studied the correspondence of the above two-flavor decoherence analysis of data for v_{atm} . Two qualitative scenarios were investigated: flavor change in NO due to decoherence only and as a result of the cumulative effect of this mechanism and the conventional one. It was shown that with a simplifying assumption of diagonality of dissipation matrices on the right-hand side of (10), both versions of taking decoherence into account fail to comply with experimental data if mixing in the channel $v_e \rightarrow v_{\mu}$ or $v_e \rightarrow v_{\tau}$ is included into the model.

We need to mention in this context that there is an extremely strong astrophysical constraint on the decoherence effect: $\gamma_0 \leq 10^{-40}$ GeV at k = 0 [154]. It is based on the published estimate of the limiting probability of recording the fact of NO in the flux from the supernova SN1987A, $P(v_e \rightarrow v_{\mu,\tau}) < 0.2$ [155]; in all likelihood, this constraint imposes a very considerable limitation on the expectation of observing the effect in other experiments, even though the data on NO in connection with active galactic nuclei may amplify it by many orders of magnitude [154].

Another source of CPT nonconservation is the interaction of fermion spin with the spin connection of the external gravitational field of Einstein's theory provided its sign is not reversed under the CPT transformation. The contributions of this interaction to the energy for the Dirac neutrino and antineutrino are of opposite signs. Scattering on primordial black holes [156] in the early universe and in axially symmetric cosmological solutions [156, 157] and, in today's epoch, scattering on rotating black holes [156, 158, 159], result in unequal number densities of v and \bar{v} and also in energy- and mass-independent oscillations $v \leftrightarrow \bar{v}$ [160].

Another group of papers in which Alfaro et al. [161] start from one of the models of gravity (loop quantum gravity) treats a modified DR of form (11). Among other things, the theory assumes the existence of an intermediate scale $\mathcal{L} \gg L_{\text{Pl}}$ that separates the lengths $d \ll \mathcal{L}$ on which the loop structure of space manifests itself and the lengths $d \gtrsim \mathcal{L}$ on which flat classical geometry is reconstructed. Detailed investigation showed [118, 161] that in the framework of this approach, the function *F* in (11) for a neutrino in a vacuum is in general parameterized by nine constants of different degrees of suppression (compared to unity) through a factor $(L_{\text{Pl}}/\mathcal{L})^{3\Upsilon+2}$ ($\Upsilon \ge 0$ is an additional phenomenological parameter that is possibly a function of energy), with the scale \mathcal{L} found for two scenarios ($\mathcal{L} \sim 1/E$ and $\mathcal{L} \sim \text{const}$); the term linear in *p* involved in *F* includes the symbol '±' for the possible helicity. Alfaro et al. [161] analyzed in detail the possibility of extracting information (also evaluating the restrictions on the parameter Υ based on the data for v_{atm}) on two characteristics of observable (in principle) effects of cosmic gamma ray bursts as they are accompanied with powerful emissions of massive neutrinos with $E \sim$ $10^5 - 10^{10}$ GeV: (1) by signal delay time for various neutrino states in comparison with the light signal, found to be of the order of $(EL_{\text{Pl}})L/c \approx 10^4$ s;³⁰ (2) by the energy dependence $L_{\text{osc}}^{-1} \propto E^2 L_{\text{Pl}}$, which differs from that discussed in Ref. [138] (see the beginning of Section 5.2).

By using working parameterization constants and comparing theoretical results with NO data and with the spectrum of cosmic rays of extragalactic origin on the basis of the above formalism, it was also possible to analyze the energy dependence of the NO length [163], constraints on the intermediate scale ($\mathcal{L} \gtrsim 10^{-18} \text{ eV}^{-1}$ [163, 164]) and the working constant [164], and a novel mechanism [165] for generating the primary cosmological asymmetry of the universe originating with the density difference of neutrinos and antineutrinos caused by the above difference in signs for the linear-in-momentum contribution to the function *F* in (11).

Finally, a separate problem discussed in the literature stems from attempts at describing the closeness in scale of the observed neutrino masses and the energy scale of the so-called dark energy, which determines the acceleration of the cosmological expansion of the universe. Barenboim and Mavromatos, extending and specifying the general line of their earlier work [104], developed a new interpretation of all NO data mentioned in Section 6.3 and also continued the study [166] of possible model approaches to interpreting the cosmological $v - \bar{v}$ asymmetry and to obtaining a meaningful evaluation of the vacuum energy (the so-called dark energy, also known as the cosmological term, caused by mixing of neutrinos through decoherence).³¹ The starting point in Ref. [166] is the assumption that decoherence effects [caused by the interaction of the neutrino with the foam structure of the vacuum (see Section 4.4)] contribute to the terms of the Hamiltonian in Eqn (10) for the evolution of the density matrix and result in the emergence of effective mass shifts, by analogy to the MSW effect in the medium.

We note that the application of the idea of a single origin of the neutrino mass and dark energy in one form or another is typical of a considerable number of publications.³² Among earlier papers in this field, we mention [169], where EP

 $^{^{30}}$ More specific estimates of delay time can be found in earlier publications cited in [161], as well as in preprint [162], where time dependence of the Hubble constant and the problem of dark energy are additionally taken into account.

³¹ The authors assume that the vacua of flavor and mass states of the neutrino are not equivalent; this results in a nontrivial contribution to the cosmological term owing to the mixing effect [167].

³² Fardon et al. [168] (see also the references therein) considered a scenario with dark energy treated as the total energy of the liquid at negative pressure, composed of the neutrino field and some scalar field whose magnitude is dictated by the cosmological neutrino density. The neutrino mass then depends on the magnitude of this field such that the lower the number density of neutrinos, the heavier they are. A very weak interaction between the scalar field and ordinary matter arising in this scenario could change the magnitude of the field relative to its vacuum value, resulting in a neutrino mass that is affected by the medium and in turn affects the NO.

violation is discussed in the framework of cosmological 'quintessence'.

Completing the discussion of the general consequences of the relation of the CPT problem to neutrino physics, we need to remind the reader that the CPT noninvariance of the theory results first and foremost in the independence of the CP- and T-symmetry violation effects.

6. Interpretations of neutrino oscillations based on CPT violation

In what follows, we outline various (different in principle) manifestations of CPT violation in terrestrial NO experiments. We begin (Section 6.1) with publications in which no true (fundamental) violation of CPT invariance is assumed in the theory but which treat oscillations in the conventional (typically, CPT-nonsymmetric) medium. Section 6.2 presents attempts to interpret NO not by deriving them from the fact that they are massive but on the basis of LI and CPT symmetry violations in the theory (similar to those we discussed in Section 4, including those connected with possible EP violations in gravity theories). Some hypothetical ways of explaining the LSND anomaly are presented in Section 6.3. Section 6.4 discusses papers aimed at generating constraints on the parameters of the fundamental CPT violation that originates with the introduction of a doubled set of oscillation parameters (or at least $m_{\bar{y}} \neq m_y$); we note, however, that the authors of these papers assume without any justification that LI is preserved (see the discussion of this problem at the beginning of Section 4).

6.1 False CPT-odd effects in medium

A number of papers [170-172] analyzed spurious CPT-odd effects caused by NO in the medium while preserving the CPT invariance of the theory; these effects result, first of all, in a nonzero asymmetry of the probabilities of diagonal transitions $\Delta P_{\alpha\alpha}^{CPT} \equiv P_{\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\alpha}} - P_{\bar{\nu}_{\alpha} \to \bar{\nu}_{\alpha}}$, i.e., the difference of survival probabilities of the neutrino and the antineutrino of a given flavor, and in similar asymmetries $\Delta P_{\alpha\beta}^{\rm CPT} \equiv$ $P_{\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\beta}} - P_{\bar{\nu}_{\beta} \to \bar{\nu}_{\alpha}}$ for nondiagonal transitions. For instance, the dependence of $\Delta P_{\mu\mu}^{\text{CPT}}$ on energy and the θ_{13} angle was demonstrated [171] in very-long-baseline *L* experiments for terrestrial and atmospheric neutrinos, i.e., in a dependence on a small matrix element U_{e3} that characterizes the NO in atmospheric and solar ranges of Δm^2 . If $L \gtrsim 7000$ km, the familiar resonance effect manifests itself clearly in atmospheric neutrinos through the interactions of v and \bar{v} in the earth's mantle and crust; the measurement of the CPT-odd asymmetry will provide a means of extracting information on θ_{13} and on the sign of the corresponding difference of squared masses. A calculation of $\Delta P_{\alpha\alpha}^{\text{CPT}}$ for reactor-based oscillation experiments on long baselines from 730 to 3200 km was also given in Ref. [172].

A detailed list of approximate analytic formulas for $\Delta P_{\alpha\alpha}^{\text{CPT}}$ and $\Delta P_{\alpha\beta}^{\text{CPT}}$ in a medium with an arbitrary density distribution is given in [173]. Furthermore, particular cases of constant density and stepwise density distribution are considered, the latter corresponding to NO in long-baseline accelerator and reactor experiments, as well as in future neutrino factories. Estimates were obtained (numerically and on the basis of the perturbation theory and low-energy approximation) for about a dozen experiments — current and in preparation — for evaluating the indicated CPT-odd differences. Also shown graphically is the effect as a function

of the energy *E* and the baseline *L* for three more efficient accelerator experiments, KamLAND, BNL NWG, and NuMI, for which numerical values of ΔP_{ee}^{CPT} and $\Delta P_{\mu e}^{CPT}$ are -0.033, 0.032, and 0.026, respectively.

6.2 Violation of Lorentz invariance and the equivalence principle

The last part of talk [9] cited in Section 4.1 contains, in addition to a discussion of the application of the extended Standard Model to neutrino physics, a description of qualitative features of the simplified two-parameter model and an analysis of its compatibility with the data on atmospheric and solar neutrinos. It is noted that it is currently difficult and would most likely be wrong to exclude the possibility of describing the observed oscillations in terms of LI and CPT violations instead of assigning mass to the neutrino.

In addition to the general evaluation (see Section 4) of the possibility of explaining NO exclusively in terms of CPT- and LI-noninvariant models, detailed analyses of the results of available experiments were carried out recently.

Gago et al. [174] gave a description of the global fitting of all solar neutrino data obtained before the publication of the results of the experiment SNO 2002 with solar neutrinos, and also provided information on interpretations of oscillation data, including those based on EP violation. 33 The purpose of this work was to obtain a numerical comparison of the quality of experimental results in terms of different flavor-varying mechanisms for v_e . It was shown that in addition to the known strong-mixing LMA(MSW) solution, oscillations can be explained at the same confidence level ($\geq 60\%$) by EP violation, by neutrino flavor variation through interaction of its magnetic moment with the external magnetic field, and by nonstandard neutrino interaction (NSNI) parameterized by two constants, one of which characterizes the contribution of flavor-changing interactions and the second determines the ordinary neutrino-medium interaction and plays a role similar to that of Δm^2 in the MSW resonance. It is also emphasized that experimental data do not warrant obtaining stringent constraints for the existence of solutions based on the NSNI or on EP violation.³⁴ The best description of solar neutrino oscillations, ve, reported in Ref. [174] corresponds, in the case where they are caused by EP violation, to $|\phi \Delta f| \simeq 1.6 \times 10^{-24}$ and $\sin 2\theta_G = 1$, and predicates the vacuum solution; the MSW-type resonance solution [178] requires values of $|\phi \Delta f|$ that would be incompatible with the CCFR data.

The fitting of atmospheric neutrino data on the basis of EP violation or in the presence of NSNI provides very poor results (see talks [179] and the references therein); no interpretation of these data on the basis of NSNI only is acceptable for 99% CL [180], mostly due to the energy-independence of the NSNI mechanism.

³³ See also talk [175] and papers [176, 177].

³⁴ Many papers have appeared recently in the literature that interpret neutrino oscillations data in terms of NSNI mechanisms. Their phenomenological manifestations are typically in the same group because the effect is independent of neutrino energy, which is also characteristic of the contribution of the parameter Δb in (8). We saw in the discussion in Section 4.2 that this is also the case for the scalar version of EP violation. Information on the limiting values of Δb and $|\phi \Delta f|$ is likely to be extractable from the data that yielded constraints on the parameters of NSNI.

The latest fitting [181] of atmospheric S-K data and the K2K experimental results showed that resorting to LI and CPT violation as an additional mechanism of NO hardly affects the standard parameters. The following restrictions [giving eightfold improvement on the results in [138] (see Section 5.2)] were obtained at the level 90% CL:

$$|\Delta c| \le 8.1 \times 10^{-25}$$
, $|\phi \Delta f| \le 4.0 \times 10^{-25}$,
 $|\Delta b| \le 3.2 \times 10^{-14} \text{ eV}$, $|\Delta \delta_0| \le 4.0 \times 10^{-14} \text{ eV}$.

This is a constraint on the CPT-odd interaction with a vectortype twisted field (J = 1) for n = 0; the corresponding 3σ limits were also obtained and found to be greater by a factor of 1.5-2.

Another difficult and still unsolved problem is the nonstandard interpretation of experimental results with solar and atmospheric neutrinos in the three-flavor analysis [182]; it is made still more complicated if mutual influences of these two sectors of experimental data are taken into account.

6.3 CPT-noninvariant 'ether', decoherence, and the LSND anomaly

Another idea tested for the interpretation of neutrino experiments was the CPT-noninvariant 'ether' [183] acting as a dense medium responsible for interaction potentials of opposite signs for the neutrino and antineutrino. It was shown in [184] that this model involving Lorentz-noninvariant effective operators cannot solve the problems of solar neutrino deficit or the anomalous result of LSND.

However, in principle, the increased number of fitting parameters and their nonstandard dependence on energy provide a possibility of describing NO data, including LSND. In the middle of Section 5.1, we quoted the hypothesis of the possibility of interpreting experiments on a short baseline only in terms of the LI violation effect in the extended Standard Model [127]. This approach, incorporating the assumption in [104] on nonidentical decoherence parameters for the neutrino and antineutrino because of the strong CPT violation but with $m_v = m_{\bar{v}}$, has allowed Barenboim and Mavromatos to successfully fit all the available results. The application of the three-flavor analysis, of simplifying assumptions on parameterization of the decoherence effect (which is valid in this particular model only in the antineutrino sector and is described by two quantities that are directly and inversely proportional to E), and of the conventional NO mechanism in terms of Δm^2 made it possible to explain the LSND anomaly [104, 166].

This experiment deserves some additional remarks. We know (see recent reviews [1, 2, 5, 6, 22–33]) that the data on the deficit of solar and atmospheric neutrinos (confirmed in a number of experiments) were successfully explained in the model with three flavors mixed; this model operates with only two independent differences of squared masses Δm_{ij}^2 (*i*, *j* = 1, 2, 3). Therefore, the indication in favor of a third value of Δm^2 that was obtained in the LSND experiment required a modification of the model through incorporation of sterile neutrinos (i.e., by adding *i*, *j* > 3) or through a radical increase in the number of its free parameters (see the first paragraphs of Section 4).

The LSND experiment [13] searched for \bar{v}_e -events originating in decays of positive muons that were created in the decays of stopped pions formed in interactions of protons

from the linear accelerator of the meson factory LAMPF. An analysis of the data led Aguilar et al. [13] to the conclusion that a nondiagonal transition $\bar{v}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{v}_{e}$ at $\Delta m_{LSND}^2 \sim 1 \text{ eV}^2$ was present. This result was only obtained in a single experiment and was never confirmed by similar measurements at KARMEN2 [185] (see also the conclusions in [186] on a joint analysis of the data [13] and of [185] and the results of the search for oscillations $\bar{v}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{v}_{e}$ in the accelerator experiment NuTeV [187]).

The upcoming accelerator experiment Mini-BooNE [188] (FNAL) is aimed at testing the LSND result. The refutation of this result would mean that there is no need to introduce sterile neutrinos or a hypothetical inequality of the neutrino and antineutrino masses. A confirmation of the LSND-anomaly may attract additional attention to using the simplest, even though theoretically unfounded, model for interpreting oscillations in terms of $m_v \neq m_{\bar{v}}$ (see Section 7).

6.4 Constraints on the values of $m_{\bar{\nu}} \neq m_{\nu}$ derived from NO data

As for the generation of constraints in the case of $m_v \neq m_{\bar{v}}$, it was shown, for example, that sensitivity at the level $|\bar{m}_3 - m_3| \lesssim 1.9 \times 10^{-4}$ eV can be achieved in neutrino factory experiments [189].

Strumia [190] carried out data fitting in S-K and K2K experiments at $m_v \neq m_{\bar{v}}$ in the range of squared mass differences typical of atmospheric neutrinos. The first parameter on the Δm_v^2 vs $\Delta m_{\bar{v}}^2$ diagram proved to be constrained in the same way as with CPT conserved while the second, by contrast, showed allowed values greater by about an order of magnitude.

NO experimental data were also analyzed in order to evaluate $\delta = \Delta m_v^2 - \Delta m_{\tilde{v}}^2$ [191]. Murayama [191] cites the result $(-7.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ eV}^2 < \delta < 5.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ eV}^2)$ presented by the S-K collaboration at the conference ICHEP-2002 [4]; the result was based on studying the flux of atmospheric neutrinos and pointed to its dependence on the assumption of mixing being maximum and identical for v and \bar{v} . However, a more detailed analysis of the most recent SNO data on solar neutrinos [193] using the mechanism with MSW transitions inside the sun and of the information on the deficit of reactor antineutrinos in the KamLAND experiment [194] yielded a better constraint for δ in the form of the inequality $|\Delta m_v^2 - \Delta m_{\bar{v}}^2| < 1.3 \times 10^{-3} \text{ eV}^2$ (90% CL) [191]; Murayama compares it with the known upper bound on the mass difference between K^0 - and \bar{K}^0 mesons $(|m_{K^0} - m_{\bar{K}^0}|/\langle m_K \rangle < 0.25 \text{ eV}^2)$ and considers this the most stringent experimental bound on the possible violation of CPT invariance.

7. Attempts to interpret oscillation data for $m_{\bar{y}} \neq m_{y}$

In connection with the difficulties involved in interpreting the entire gamut of experimental results on NO, even resorting to 'marginal' solutions with the sterile neutrino (see, e.g., Refs [190, 192]),³⁵ an extended set of squared mass differences was used (by using an independent value of $\Delta \bar{m}_{ij}^2$ for the antineutrino); to justify this, reference was made to a

³⁵ Recent SNO experiments (see Refs [193, 195]) eliminate the need to consider sterile neutrinos; for the latest estimates, see review [22], paper [196], and talk [197].

Murayama and Yanagida [198] were the first to try this approach to interpreting NO experimental results (see also [199]). Their paper proposed a scheme of neutrino and antineutrino masses that is compatible with all NO data and the LSND anomaly without adding the sterile neutrino; in addition, it does not contradict neutrino events from the SN1987A supernova. We note that the LSND result is interpreted as a consequence of the large squared mass difference of the antineutrino $\Delta m_{\tilde{v}}^2$. In view of this, the authors considered it essential to begin the forthcoming MiniBooNE experiment with an antineutrino beam. By analyzing the energies of the indicated SN1987A events in the Kamiokande and IMB experiments, these authors also obtained arguments against the preferred values of $\Delta m_{\text{LSND}}^2 \approx 0.1 - 1 \text{ eV}^2$ suggested earlier.

The current situation with interpretation of NO data in terms of a CPT-noninvariant neutrino mass spectrum is outlined in [201] and in review talk [202]. An analysis of all results, with the LSND experiment either taken or not taken into account, was carried out in terms of the three-flavor approach. It was shown that no areas allowed for the LSND or for all other experiments on the Δm^2 vs sin² 2 θ plane overlap at the 3σ level, while the values of these parameters that correspond to the best fitting result are practically identical both in scenarios with CPT conservation and in those with violation of the CPT.

Finally, Barger et al. [203] used still more exotic scenarios to interpret LSND data in conjunction with all other NO results: with the fourth sterile-type neutrino and imposed equality of v and \bar{v} parameters (also for $m_v \neq m_{\bar{v}}$). It was shown that while mass spectra of the types 3 + 1 and 2 + 2were possible for \bar{v} , only the 3 + 1 scenario is possible for v.³⁷

8. Conclusion

The information given in Sections 3 to 6 characterizes the current status of the old problem of theoretical and experimental investigation of the hypothetical violation of CPT invariance within the lepton sector of the Standard Model. It gives an indication that neutrino oscillations constitute a novel area in which promising possibilities are opened for the search for effects of CPT symmetry violation. One should not forget, however, the status of the CPT invariance as one of the fundamental concepts underpinning the theory. This is a proper place to quote the following remarks that are undoubtedly shared by most of the researchers: "Of course, whatever could be measured should be measured and whatever could be tested should be tested. There should be no reservations: such a fundamental symmetry as CPT should be tested. However one should keep in mind that unlike breaking of C, P, T, CP, PT, and TC, the breaking of CPT is non-compatible with the standard quantum field theory, the



Figure 1. Allowed areas for the parameters of neutrino oscillations [12].

only basis for a self-consistent phenomenological description of any process, which we know up to now. Therefore the chances that CPT breaking would be discovered are vanishingly small." [73].

Nevertheless, a discussion of the LI and CPT symmetry problem in NO was represented at the recent Neutrino-2004 XXI International Conference on Neutrino Physics and Astrophysics (14–19 June 2004, Paris) with a special talk by A de Gouvêa. The latest measurements of CPT nonconservation in the neutrino sector are also summarized in review [12]; the review graphically characterizes the situation before and after the Neutrino-2004 conference by comparing the admissible values of NO parameters (see Fig. 1) for solar v_e and reactor \bar{v}_e (including the most recent KamLI results presented to this conference [204]). This comparison demonstrates the complete agreement of totally independent neutrino and antineutrino data, confirming the CPT symmetry in the electron neutrino sector.

Acknowledgements

The author is deeply grateful to L B Okun, who stimulated him to write this review, for his criticism and advice. The author is indebted to O V Kancheli, K G Selivanov, and especially L B Okun for discussing the interrelation between the Lorentz invariance and the equality of particle and antiparticle masses.

The author is also grateful to O V Kancheli for a detailed critical discussion of the problem of possible violation of Lorentz invariance in theories of gravitation, and to A D Dolgov for important comments.

The work was partly supported by the RFBR grants 00-15-96562 and NSh-2328.2003.2, and also FTsNTP RF No 40.052.1.1.1112.

³⁶ An obvious assumption is made of the correct relation between spin and statistics.

³⁷ For mass spectra taking the sterile neutrino into account, see, e.g., review [2].

References

- 1. Bilen'kii S M Usp. Fiz. Nauk **173** 1171 (2000) [Phys. Usp. **46** 1137 (2003)]
- Akhmedov E Kh Usp. Fiz. Nauk 174 121 (2004) [Phys. Usp. 47 117 (2004)]
- Proc. of the XXth Intern. Conf. on Neutrino Physics and Astrophysics, Munich, Germany, May 25–30, 2002; Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 118 (2003)
- Proc. of the 31st Intern. Conf. on High Energy Physics, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, July 25-31, 2002; Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 117 (2003)
- Åkhmedov E Kh Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 118 245 (2003); hep-ph/ 0207342
- Kayser B Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 118 425 (2003); hep-ph/ 0306072
- Gonzalez-Garcia M C, in Proc. of the XXXIst Intern. Conf. on High Energy Physics, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, July 24-31, 2002, Plenary talk at ICHEP 2002; Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 117 186 (2003); CERN-TH/2002-295; hep-ph/0210359 (v2)
- Kostelecký V A, Mewes M Phys. Rev. D 70 031902(R) (2004); hepph/0308300; Phys. Rev. D 69 016005 (2004); hep-ph/0309025
- 9. Kostelecký V A Phys. Rev. D 69 105009 (2004); hep-ph/0403088
- 10. Mavromatos N E, in *Neutrino Oscillations in Venice 2003, Venice, Italy, Dec. 3–5, 2003*; hep-ph/0402005
- Mavromatos N E, in Quantum Gravity Phenomenology: 40th Winter School of Theoretical Physics, Poland, Feb. 4-14, 2004; gr-qc/ 0407005
- Bahcall J N, Gonzalez-Garcia M C, Peña-Garay C J. High Energy Phys. (JHEP08) 016 (2004); hep-ph/0406294
- 13. Aguilar A et al. (LSND Collab.) *Phys. Rev. D* **64** 112007 (2001); hepex/0104049
- Gershtein S S, Kuznetsov E P, Ryabov V A Usp. Fiz. Nauk 167 811 (1997) [Phys. Usp. 40 773 (1997)]
- Kozlov Yu V, Martem'yanov V P, Mukhin K N Usp. Fiz. Nauk 167 849 (1997) [Phys. Usp. 40 807 (1997)]
- 16. Bettini A Usp. Fiz. Nauk 171 977 (2001) [Phys. Usp. 44 931 (2001)]
- Wark D L, in Proc. of the XXXIst Intern. Conf. on High Energy Physics, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, July 24-31, 2002, Plenary talk at ICHEP 2002; Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 117 164 (2003); http://www.ichep02.n1/Transparencies/PL-Tue/PL-Tue-1-1. wark.pdf
- Kayser B, in *Review of Particle Physics* (Phys. Lett. B, Vol. 592, No. 1-4, Ed. Particle Data Group) (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2004) pp. 144-153
- Vogel P, Piepke A, in *Review of Particle Physics* (Phys. Lett. B, Vol. 592, No. 1–4, Ed. Particle Data Group) (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2004) pp. 438–439, 447–449
- Groom D E, in *Review of Particle Physics* (Phys. Lett. B, Vol. 592, No. 1–4, Ed. Particle Data Group) (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2004) pp. 451–452
- Nakamura K, in *Review of Particle Physics* (Phys. Lett. B, Vol. 592, No. 1–4, Ed. Particle Data Group) (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2004) pp. 459–465
- Gonzalez-Garcia M C, Nir Y Rev. Mod. Phys. 75 345 (2003); hepph/0202058
- Bilenky S M, in XVIst Rencontre de Physique de La Vallee d'Aoste, La Thuile, Aosta Valley, Italy, March 3-9, 2002; hep-ph/0205047
- Altarelli G, Feruglio F, in *Neutrino Mass* (Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, Vol. 190, Eds G Altarelli, K Winter) (Berlin: Springer, 2003) p. 169; hep-ph/0206077
- Kayser B, in *Neutrino Mass* (Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, Vol. 190, Eds G Altarelli, K Winter) (Berlin: Springer, 2003) p. 1; hep-ph/0211134
- 26. Bilenky S M et al. Phys. Rep. 379 69 (2003); hep-ph/0211462
- Alberico W M, Bilenky S M Fiz. Elem. Chastits At. Yadra 35 545 (2004) [Phys. Part. Nucl. 35 297 (2004); hep-ph/0306239
- Barger V, Marfatia D, Whisnant K Int. J. Mod. Phys. E 12 569 (2003); hep-ph/0308123
- 29. Wark D L Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. A 361 2527 (2003)
- Miramonti L, Reseghetti F *Riv. Nuovo Cimento* 025 (07) 1 (2002); hep-ex/0302035

- 31. Ryabov V A Fiz. Elem. Chastits At. Yadra **34** 1256 (2003) [Phys. Part. Nucl. **34** 651 (2003)]
- 32. Smirnov A Yu Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19 1180 (2004); hep-ph/0311259
- 33. McKeown R D, Vogel P Phys. Rep. 394 315 (2004); hep-ph/0402025
- Lüders G Kgl. Danske Vidensk. Selsk. Mat.-Fys. Medd. 28 (5) (1954); Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 2 1 (1957)
- 35. Schwinger J Phys. Rev. 82 914 (1951)
- 36. Pauli W "Exclusion principle, Lorentz group and reflexion of spacetime and charge", in *Niels Bohr and the Development of Physics*; *Essays Dedicated to Niels Bohr on the Occasion of His Seventieth Birthday* (Ed. W Pauli) (London: Pergamon Press, 1955) p. 34 [Translated into Russian (Moscow: IL, 1958) p. 46]
- 37. Jost R Helv. Phys. Acta 30 409 (1957)
- 38. Lee T D, Oehme R, Yang C N Phys. Rev. 106 340 (1957)
- Pauli W "Die Verlesung von Spiegelungs-Symmetrien in den Gesetzen der Atomphysik", in *Theoretical Physics in the Twentieth Century; a Memorial Volume to Wolfgang Pauli* (Eds M Fierz, V F Weisskopf) (New York: Interscience Publ., 1960) [Translated into Russian (Moscow: IL, 1962) p. 376]
- Jost R "Das Pauli-prinzip und die Lorentz-gruppe", in *Theoretical Physics in the Twentieth Century; A Memorial Volume to Wolfgang Pauli* (Ed. M Fierz, V F Weisskopf) (New York: Interscience Publ., 1960) [Translated into Russian (Moscow: IL, 1962) p. 128]
- Jost R The General Theory of Quantized Fields (Providence, RI: Am. Math. Soc., 1965) [Translated into Russian (Moscow: Mir, 1967)]
- 42. Schwinger J Phys. Rev. 82 664 (1951)
- Schweber S S An Introduction to Relativistic Quantum Field Theory (Evanston, Ill.: Row, Peterson and Co., 1961) [Translated into Russian (Moscow: IL, 1963)]
- Gravert G, Lüders G, Rollnik G Fortschr. Phys. 7 291 (1959); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 71 289 (1960)
- Streater R F, Wightman A S PCT, Spin and Statistics, and All That (New York: W.A. Benjamin, 1964) [Translated into Russian (Moscow: Nauka, 1966)]
- 46. Bogolyubov N N, Logunov A A, Todorov I T Osnovy Aksiomaticheskogo Podkhoda v Kvantovoi Teorii Polya (Fundamentals of Axiomatic Approach in Quantum Field Theory) (Moscow: Nauka, 1969) [Translated into English: Introduction to Axiomatic Quantum Field Theory (Reading, Mass.: W.A. Benjamin, 1975)]
- Bogolyubov N N, Shirkov D V Vvedenie v Teoriyu Kvantovannykh Polei (Introduction to the Theory of Quantized Fields) (Moscow: Nauka, 1976) [Translated into English (New York: John Wiley, 1980)]
- 48. Lüders G, Zumino B Phys. Rev. 106 385 (1957)
- Marshak R E, Sudarshan E C G Introduction to Elementary Particle Physics (New York: Interscience Publ., 1961) [Translated into Russian (Moscow: IL, 1962)]
- Okun' L B Fizika Elementarnykh Chastits (Elementary Particle Physics) 2nd ed. (Moscow: Nauka 1988) Appendix 2
- 51. Greenberg O W Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 231602 (2002); hep-ph/0201258
- 52. Greenberg O W Phys. Lett. B 567 179 (2003); hep-ph/0305276
- 53. Barenboim G, Lykken J Phys. Lett. B 554 73 (2003); hep-ph/ 0210411
- 54. Greenberg O W, hep-ph/0309309
- Wolfenstein L, Trippe T G, in *Review of Particle Physics* (Phys. Lett. B, Vol. 592, No. 1–4, Ed. Particle Data Group) (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2004) pp. 81–82
- Bloch P, in *Review of Particle Physics* (Phys. Lett. B, Vol. 592, No. 1–4, Ed. Particle Data Group) (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2004) pp. 623–624
- Kostelecký V A, Potting R Nucl. Phys. B 359 545 (1991); Phys. Rev. D 51 3923 (1995); hep-ph/9501341; Phys. Lett. B 381 89 (1996); Phys. Rev. D 63 046007 (2001); hep-th/0008252; Kostelecký V A, Perry M J, Potting R Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 4541 (2000)
- 58. Ellis J et al. Nucl. Phys. B 241 381 (1984)
- Ellis J, Mavromatos N E, Nanopoulos D V Phys. Lett. B 293 142 (1992); hep-ph/9207268; Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 11 1489 (1996); hep-th/ 9212057
- 60. Ellis J et al. Phys. Rev. D 53 3846 (1996); hep-ph/9505340
- Ellis J, Mavromatos N E, Nanopoulos D V, Invited talk at Workshop on K Physics, Orsay, France, May 30-June 4, 1996; CERN-TH/96-189; hep-ph/9607434; Ellis J et al., gr-qc/0209108 (v2)
- 62. Mavromatos N E, hep-th/0210079 (v2)

- Okun' L B, Rubbia C, in Proc. of the Heidelberg Intern. Conf. on Elementary Particles, Heidelberg, Germany, Sept. 20–27, 1967 (Ed. H Filthuth) (Amsterdam: North-Holland Publ. Co., 1968) p. 301
- 64. Okun L B Comments Nucl. Part. Phys. 2 116 (1968)
- Hagiwara K et al. (Particle Data Group) "Review of Particle Physics" *Phys. Rev. D* 66 010001 (2002)
- 66. Shabalin E P Usp. Fiz. Nauk 171 951 (2001) [Phys. Usp. 44 895 (2001)]
- Takeuchi Y, Tsai S Y Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 18 1551 (2003); hep-ph/ 0208148
- 68. Machet B, Novikov V A, Vysotsky M I, hep-ph/0407268
- Bigi I I, Sanda A I CP Violation (Cambridge Monographs on Particle Phys., Nucl. Phys., and Cosmology, Vol. 9) (Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 2000)
- Kostelecký V A, in Orbis Scientiae, 1999, Fort Lauderdale, Fl., USA, December 1999; hep-ph/0005280
- Kostelecký V A, in Second Meeting on CPT and Lorentz Symmetry, Bloomington, Ind., USA, August 2001; hep-ph/0202094
- Pakvasa S, in Second Meeting on CPT and Lorentz Symmetry, Bloomington, Ind., USA, August 2001; hep-ph/0110175 (v2)
- Okun L B, in 14th Rencontres de Blois "Matter-Antimatter Asymmetry", June 2002; hep-ph/0210052
- 74. Bigi I I Z. Phys. C 12 235 (1982)
- 75. Cabibbo N *Phys. Lett. B* **72** 333 (1978); Barger V, Whisnant K, Phillips R J N *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **45** 2084 (1980)
- Colladay D, Kostelecký V A Phys. Rev. D 55 6760 (1997); hep-ph/ 9703464; Phys. Rev. D 58 116002 (1998); hep-ph/9809521
- 77. Gustafson G Acta Phys. Polon. B 35 257 (2004); hep-ph/0312310
- Crocker R M, Giunti C, Mortlock D J Phys. Rev. D 69 063008 (2004); hep-ph/0308168
- 79. Lambiase G Eur. Phys. J. C 19 553 (2001)
- 80. Mbonye M R Gen. Rel. Grav. 34 1865 (2002); astro-ph/0108167
- Ragul'skii V V Obrashchenie Volnovogo Fronta pri Vynuzhdennom Rasseyanii Sveta (Inversion of the Wavefront in Induced Light Scattering) (Moscow: Nauka, 1990)
- Unnikrishnan C S, Gillies G T Phys. Lett. A 305 26 (2002); gr-qc/ 0209093
- Ragul'skii V V Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 65 497 (1997) [JETP Lett. 65 517 (1997)]; Ragulsky V V Phys. Lett. A 235 125; 236 609 (1997); Ragul'skii V V Usp. Fiz. Nauk 167 1022 (1997) [Phys. Usp. 40 972 (1997)]
- 84. Novikov E, Pakhlov P, hep-ex/0002057
- Coleman S, Glashow S L Phys. Rev. D 59 116008 (1999); hep-ph/ 9812418 (v3)
- Coleman S, Glashow S L Phys. Lett. B 405 249 (1997); hep-ph/ 9703240
- 87. Glashow S L et al. Phys. Rev. D 56 2433 (1997); hep-ph/9703454
- Coleman S, Glashow S L, hep-ph/9808446; Glashow S L Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 70 180 (1999)
- 89. Glashow S L Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 77 313 (1999)
- 90. Valle J W F *Phys. Lett. B* **199** 432 (1987)
- 91. Gasperini M Phys. Rev. D 38 2635 (1988); 39 3606 (1989)
- 92. Halprin A, Leung C N Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 1833 (1991)
- 93. Halprin A, Leung C N Phys. Lett. B 416 361 (1998); hep-ph/9707407
- 94. Horvat R Phys. Rev. D 58 125020 (1998); hep-ph/9802377
- Damour T, Polyakov A M Gen. Rel. Grav. 26 1171 (1994); gr-qc/ 9411069
- 96. Mureika J R, Mann R B Phys. Lett. B 368 112 (1996); hep-ph/ 9511220; Phys. Rev. D 54 2761 (1996); hep-ph/9603335; Mureika J R Phys. Rev. D 56 2408 (1997); hep-ph/9612391
- 97. Mann R B, Sarkar U Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 865 (1996); hep-ph/9505353
- Lipari P, Lusignoli M Phys. Rev. D 60 013003 (1999); hep-ph/ 9901350; Lusignoli M Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 100 250 (2001); hep-ph/0101074
- 99. Barenboim G et al. Phys. Lett. B 537 227 (2002); hep-ph/0203261
- 100. Mavromatos N E, hep-ph/0309221
- Wheeler J A, Ford K Geons, Black Holes, and Quantum Foam: A Life in Physics (New York: Norton, 1998); Hawking S W Commun. Math. Phys. 87 395 (1982)
- 102. Wald R M Phys. Rev. D 21 2742 (1980)
- Milburn G J, gr-qc/0308021; Dowker F, Henson J, Sorkin R D Mod. Phys. Lett. A 19 1829 (2004); gr-qc/0311055

- Barenboim G, Mavromatos N E J. High Energy Phys. (JHEP01) 034 (2005); hep-ph/0404014
- Bernabéu J, Mavromatos N, Papavassiliou J Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 131601 (2004); hep-ph/0310180
- Marinov M S Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 15 677 (1972) [JETP Lett. 15 479 (1972)]; Yad. Fiz. 19 350 (1974) [Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 19 173 (1974)]; Nucl. Phys. B 253 609 (1985)
- Amelino-Camelia G et al. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 12 607 (1997); hep-th/ 9605211; Amelino-Camelia G et al. Nature 393 763 (1998); astro-ph/ 9712103
- 108. Ellis J et al. Gen. Rel. Grav. 32 1777 (2000); gr-qc/9911055
- Ellis J et al. Astrophys. J. 535 139 (2000); astro-ph/9907340; Astron. Astrophys. 402 409 (2003); astro-ph/0210124
- Blasone M, Magueijo J, Pires-Pacheco P Europhys. Lett. 70 600 (2005); hep-ph/0307205
- 111. Amelino-Camelia G Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 11 35 (2002); gr-qc/ 0012051
- 112. Magueijo J, Smolin L Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 190403 (2002); hep-th/ 0112090 (v2)
- Brustein R, Eichler D, Foffa S *Phys. Rev. D* 65 105006 (2002); hepph/0106309
- 114. Yasuda O, gr-qc/9403023
- 115. De Sabbata V, Gasperini M Nuovo Cimento A 65 479 (1981)
- Klinkhamer F R, Volovik G E Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 20 2795 (2005); hep-th/0403037 (v4); Klinkhamer F R Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 79 563 (2004) [JETP Lett. 79 451 (2004)]; hep-ph/0403285 (v4); hep-ph/0407200
- 117. Eichler D Phys. Lett. B 459 86 (1999); astro-ph/9811020
- Alfaro J, Morales-Técotl H A, Urrutia L F *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 84 2318 (2000); gr-qc/9909079
- 119. Lambiase G Gen. Rel. Grav. 33 2151 (2001); gr-qc/0107066
- 120. Chen S-X, Yang Z-Y, hep-ph/0312099
- 121. Adunas G Z, Rodriguez-Milla E, Ahluwalia D V Phys. Lett. B 485 215 (2000); gr-qc/0006021; Gen. Rel. Grav. 33 183 (2001); gr-qc/ 0006022; Ahluwalia D V Phys. Lett. A 275 31 (2000); gr-qc/0002005
- Bozza V et al. *Phys. Lett. A* 279 163 (2001); hep-ph/0012270; *Int. J. Theor. Phys.* 40 849 (2001); hep-ph/0106234
- Benatti F, Floreanini R J. High Energy Phys. (JHEP02) 032 (2000); hep-ph/0002221; Phys. Rev. D 64 085015 (2001); hep-ph/0105303
- 124. Ellis J, Mavromatos N E, Nanopoulos D V Phys. Lett. B 293 37 (1992); hep-th/9207103; Phys. Rev. D 63 024024 (2001); gr-qc/ 0007044
- 125. Glashow S L, hep-ph/0407087
- 126. Barger V et al. Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 5055 (2000); hep-ph/0005197
- Kostelecký V A, Mewes M Phys. Rev. D 70 076002 (2004); hep-ph/ 0406255
- 128. Bahcall J N, Barger V, Marfatia D *Phys. Lett. B* **534** 120 (2002); hepph/0201211
- Heckel B R (for the EotWash Group) "Torsion balance tests of spin coupled forces", www.npl.washington.edu/eotwash/publications/ cpt01.pdf
- Mocioiu I, Pospelov M Phys. Lett. B 534 114 (2002); hep-ph/ 0202160; Mocioiu I, Ph.D. Thesis (Stony Brook, NY: C.N. Yang Inst. for Theoretical Physics State Univ. of New York, 2002); UMI-30-67597-mc (microfiche)
- 131. Choubey S, King S F Phys. Lett. B 586 353 (2004); hep-ph/0311326
- 132. Datta A et al. Phys. Lett. B 597 356 (2004); hep-ph/0312027
- Bluhm R Nucl. Instrum. Meth. B 221 6 (2004); hep-ph/0308281; hep-ph/0111323
- Jacobson T, Liberati S, Mattingly D Phys. Rev. D 67 124011 (2003); hep-ph/0209264 (v2)
- 135. Leung C N Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 451 81 (2000); hep-ph/0002073
- Minakata H, Nunokawa H Phys. Rev. D 51 6625 (1995); hep-ph/ 9405239
- Casini H et al. *Phys. Rev. D* 59 062001 (1999); hep-ph/9811215; Casini H, D'Olivo J C, Montemayor R *Phys. Rev. D* 61 105004 (2000); hep-ph/9910407
- 138. Fogli G L et al. Phys. Rev. D 60 053006 (1999); hep-ph/9904248
- Foot R, Leung C N, Yasuda O Phys. Lett. B 443 185 (1998); hep-ph/ 9809458
- 140. Datta A Phys. Lett. B 504 247 (2001); hep-ph/0011240
- Leung C N, Wong Y Y Phys. Rev. D 67 056005 (2003); hep-ph/ 0301211

 Guzzo M M, Nunokawa H, Tomàs R Astropart. Phys. 18 277 (2002); hep-ph/0104054

- 143. Capozziello S, Lambiase G Gen. Rel. Grav. 34 1097 (2002)
- 144. Minakata H, Smirnov A Yu Phys. Rev. D 54 3698 (1996); hep-ph/ 9601311
- 145. Horvat R Mod. Phys. Lett. A 13 2379 (1998); hep-ph/9806380 (v2)
- Barkovich M et al. *Phys. Lett. B* 506 20 (2001); astro-ph/0102157; Barkovich M et al. *Phys. Rev. D* 66 123005 (2002); astro-ph/0206471 (v2)
- 147. Denisov V I, Denisova I P, Svertilov S I Teor. Mat. Fiz. 138 167 (2004) [Theor. Math. Phys. 138 142 (2004)]
- 148. Liu Y, Hu L, Ge M-L Phys. Rev. D 56 6648 (1997); Liu Y et al. J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 24 2289 (1998); Liu Y, Chen J-L, Ge M-L, hep-ph/9711381; Sun C-P, Zhou D-L, hep-ph/9808334; Chang C-H et al. Phys. Rev. D 60 033006 (1999); hep-ph/9809371
- Lisi E, Marrone A, Montanino D Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 1166 (2000); hep-ph/0002053
- 150. Fogli G L et al. Phys. Rev. D 67 093006 (2003); hep-ph/0303064
- 151. Gago A M et al. Phys. Rev. D 63 073001 (2001); hep-ph/0009222
- 152. Gago A M et al. Phys. Rev. D 63 113013 (2001); hep-ph/0010092
- 153. Gago A M et al., hep-ph/0208166
- Klapdor-Kleingrothaus H V, Päs H, Sarkar U Eur. Phys. J. A 8 577 (2000); hep-ph/0004123 (v2)
- 155. Smirnov A Yu, Spergel D N, Bahcall J N Phys. Rev. D 49 1389 (1994)
- 156. Singh P, Mukhopadhyay B Mod. Phys. Lett. A 18 779 (2003)
- 157. Mukhopadhyay B, gr-qc/0401095 (v2)
- 158. Mukhopadhyay B, Singh P, gr-qc/0301002
- 159. Mukhopadhyay B, Singh P Pramana 62 775 (2004); gr-qc/0303053
- 160. Mukhopadhyay B, hep-ph/0307167
- Alfaro J, Morales-Técotl H A, Urrutia L F *Phys. Rev. D* 66 124006 (2002); hep-th/0208192
- 162. Choubey S, King S F Phys. Rev. D 67 073005 (2003); hep-ph/ 0207260
- 163. Lambiase G Mod. Phys. Lett. A 18 23 (2003); gr-qc/0301058
- 164. Lambiase G Clas. Quantum Grav. 20 4213 (2003); gr-qc/0302053
- 165. Lambiase G, Singh P Phys. Lett. B 565 27 (2003); gr-qc/0304051 (v2)
- Barenboim G, Mavromatos N E *Phys. Rev. D* 70 093015 (2004); hep-ph/0406035 (v2)
- 167. Blasone M et al. Phys. Lett. A 323 182 (2004); gr-qc/0402013
- Fardon R, Nelson A E, Weiner N JCAP 0410 005 (2004); astro-ph/ 0309800; Kaplan D B, Nelson A E, Weiner N Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 091801 (2004); hep-ph/0401099
- 169. Horvat R Mod. Phys. Lett. A 14 2245 (1999); hep-ph/9904451
- Bernabéu J, Bañuls M C Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 87 315 (2000); hep-ph/0003299
- Bañuls M C, Barenboim G, Bernabéu J Phys. Lett. B 513 391 (2001); hep-ph/0102184; Bernabéu J et al. Phys. Lett. B 531 90 (2002); hepph/0110071; Bernabéu J, Palomares-Ruiz S, hep-ph/0112002; Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 110 339 (2002); hep-ph/0201090
- 172. Xing Z J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 28 B7 (2002); hep-ph/0112120
- Jacobson M, Ohlsson T Phys. Rev. D 69 013003 (2004); hep-ph/ 0305064 (v2); Ohlsson T, hep-ph/0308278
- 174. Gago A M et al. Phys. Rev. D 65 073012 (2002); hep-ph/0112060
- 175. Gago A M, Nunokawa H, Zukanovich Funchal R Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 87 215 (2000); hep-ph/0001117; Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 100 68 (2001); hep-ph/0012168; Nunokawa H, hep-ph/ 0105027
- 176. Bergmann S et al. Phys. Rev. D 62 073001 (2000); hep-ph/0004049
- Majumdar D, Raychaudhuri A, Sil A Phys. Rev. D 63 073014 (2001); hep-ph/0009339; Raychaudhuri A, Sil A Phys. Rev. D 65 073035 (2002); hep-ph/0107022
- Pantaleone J, Kuo T K, Mansour S W Phys. Rev. D 61 033011 (2000); hep-ph/9907478
- Guzzo M M et al. Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 87 201 (2000); Lusignoli M Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 100 250 (2001); hep-ph/ 0101074
- Fornengo R et al. *Phys. Rev. D* 65 013010 (2001); hep-ex/0108043; Maltoni M Nucl. *Phys. B: Proc. Suppl.* 114 191 (2003); hep-ph/ 0210111
- Gonzalez-Garcia M C, Maltoni M Phys. Rev. D 70 033010 (2004); hep-ph/0404085
- 182. Guzzo M M et al. Nucl. Phys. B 629 479 (2002); hep-ph/0112310 (v3)

- Barenboim G, Borissov L, Lykken J Phys. Lett. B 534 106 (2002); hep-ph/0201080
- 184. de Gouvêa A Phys. Rev. D 66 076005 (2002); hep-ph/0204077 (v2)
- Armbruster B et al. (KARMEN Collab.) *Phys. Rev. D* 65 112001 (2002); hep-ex/0203021
- 186. Church E D et al. Phys. Rev. D 66 013001 (2002); hep-ex/0203023
- Avvakumov S et al. (NuTeV Collab.) *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **89** 011804 (2002); hep-ex/0203018 (v2)
- Tayloe R (MiniBooNE Collab.) Nucl. Phys. B: Proc. Suppl. 118 157 (2003); Monroe J, hep-ex/0406048
- Bilenky S M et al. *Phys. Rev. D* 65 073024 (2002); hep-ph/0112226; Ohlsson T, hep-ph/0209150
- 190. Strumia A Phys. Lett. B 539 91 (2002); hep-ph/0201134 (v2)
- 191. Murayama H Phys. Lett. B 597 73 (2004); hep-ph/0307127
- 192. Maltoni M et al. Nucl. Phys. B 643 321 (2002); hep-ph/0207157
- Ahmad Q R et al. (SNO Collab.) *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **89** 011301, 011302 (2002); nucl-ex/0204008, 0204009
- Eguchi K et al. (KamLAND Collab.) Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 021802 (2003); hep-ex/0212021
- Bahcall J N, Gonzalez-Garcia M C, Peña-Garay C J. High Energy Phys. (JHEP02) 009 (2003); hep-ph/0212147 (v3)
- 196. Cirelli M et al. Nucl. Phys. B 708 215 (2005); hep-ph/0403158
- 197. Strumia A, hep-ph/0407132
- Murayama H, Yanagida T Phys. Lett. B 520 263 (2001); hep-ph/ 0010178 (v3)
- Ahluwalia D V Mod. Phys. Lett. A 13 2249 (1998); hep-ph/9807267 (v2)
- Barenboim G et al. J. High Energy Phys. (JHEP10) 001 (2002); hep-ph/0108199 (v2); Barenboim G, Borissov L, Lykken J, hep-ph/0212116 (v1); Skadhauge S Nucl. Phys. B 639 281 (2002); hep-ph/0112189
- Gonzalez-Garcia M C, Maltoni M, Schwetz T Phys. Rev. D 68 053007(2003); hep-ph/0306226
- 202. Schwetz T, hep-ph/0311217
- Barger V, Marfatia D, Whisnant K Phys. Lett. B 576 303 (2003); hep-ph/0308299
- 204. Araki T et al. (KamLAND Collab.) *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **94** 081801 (2005); hep-ex/0406035